

IARIW-Bank of Korea Conference "Beyond GDP: Experiences and Challenges in the Measurement of Economic Well-being," Seoul, Korea, April 26-28, 2017

### Increasing GDP Relevance and Usefulness in a Changing, Globalising World – Arguments for Measuring a Unique and Complex Food - Human Milk - in GDP

Julie P. Smith (Australian National University)

Paper prepared for the IARIW-Bank of Korea Conference

Seoul, Korea, April 26-28, 2017

Session 3A: National Accounts and Well-being

Time: Wednesday, April 26, 2017 [Afternoon]

# INCREASING GDP RELEVANCE AND USEFULNESS IN A CHANGING, GLOBALISING WORLD – ARGUMENTS FOR MEASURING A UNIQUE AND COMPLEX FOOD - HUMAN MILK - IN GDP

Associate Professor Julie P. Smith College of Asia and the Pacific, Australian National University Canberra, Australia

Lindy Ingham

#### INCREASING GDP RELEVANCE AND USEFULNESS IN A CHANGING. **GLOBALISING WORLD – ARGUMENTS FOR MEASURING A UNIQUE** AND COMPLEX FOOD - HUMAN MILK - IN GDP<sup>1</sup>

#### **ABSTRACT**

This paper addresses debates about the future beyond GDP, by arguing for the usefulness of measuring breastfeeding and human milk in GDP as an alternative indicator of population well-being, through experimental estimates within the System of National Accounts (SNA) framework.

As the S-S-F Commission acknowledged, human milk epitomizes how current assessment of economic activity which excludes non market production is biased, and can distort policy. It is clearly within the SNA production boundary, is quantitatively non-trivial and has important implications for public policy including health.

Here it is shown that focussing on breastfeeding fits within a capabilities framework and facilitates exploration of objective measures of quality of life that can be integrated with several key areas of concern about existing GDP measurement practices. Key focus areas are: time inputs to unpaid household production via breastfeeding, as an indicator of gender equity in work and well-being, and of policy recognition; human milk as valuable household food production in core GDP; unpaid household inputs into human capital formation via early life nutrition and care; negative externalities of breastmilk substitutes (such as health costs and environmental depreciation and depletion).

JEL Subject Codes: I120; J160; E100

Key words: Breastmilk, national accounts, health, food supply and demand

analysis, childcare

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>i</sup> Paper presented at IARIW-Bank of Korea Conference "Beyond GDP: Experiences and Challenges in the measurement of Economic Well-being," Westin Hotel, Seoul, Korea, April 26-28, 2017.

### **Contents**

1. Introduction and background	4
"W(h)ither the SNA?"	
Reform priorities - Beyond GDP but within SNA?	5
Measuring what people care about	5
Alternative concepts of well being	
Overview	9
2. The national accounting framework, non-market household production, and	
breastfeeding	10
Markets in human milk and breastfeeding	
SNA guidelines and the national accounting framework	13
3. National accounting for human milk and breastfeeding	14
Gender equity and the time costs of household production and care	15
GDP and household outputs of human milk	21
Valuing human milk in GDP	23
Defensive expenditures – the food and health care cost externalities of breas	stmilk
substitutes	
Capital accounts	26
4. Discussion: Including human milk and breastfeeding in experimental accounts	327
Experimental accounts	29
Arguments against including human milk and breastfeeding in GDP	30
6. Conclusions and implications	32
Acknowledgements	34
References	35

# INCREASING GDP RELEVANCE AND USEFULNESS IN A CHANGING, GLOBALISING WORLD – ARGUMENTS FOR MEASURING A UNIQUE AND COMPLEX FOOD - HUMAN MILK - IN GDP

#### 1. Introduction and background

'There is a serious omission in the valuation of home-produced goods – the value of breast milk. This is clearly within the System of National Accounts production boundary, is quantitatively non-trivial and also has important implications for public policy and child and maternal health. (1, p. 39)

What we measure affects what we do, which is why it is so important that how we measure the economy is right. Amidst consideration of future directions for Gross Domestic Product (GDP) in measuring human well-being, this paper make the argument that a focus on breastfeeding can facilitate exploration of how to address key areas of contemporary concern. This is because human milk - as the evolved food and care system for the human infant and young child (IYC) - epitomises central issues of translating GDP into integrated indicators of well-being within the United Nations' System of National Accounts (SNA) framework.

"W(h)ither the SNA?"

Doubts have been expressed for several decades about the relevance and usefulness of GDP as an indicator of economic progress, and as a focus for economic policy. Such concerns have included questions about the ethical and distributional basis for valuing economic activity based on market transactions and the measuring rod of money, the SNA treatment of human capital formation and non-market household production, and the appropriate incorporation of market failures and environmental asset depletion in measures of economic progress. (2-11)

Ongoing suspicions about the relevance and usefulness of the SNA framework and GDP present a continued challenge for its advocates. Critics prefer the SNA to 'wither away'. In particular, there have been strong calls to either radically change, or even replace, GDP in order to have a measure that takes better account of social and environmental issues. Against this there have been important SNA reforms responding to widespread demands for a more inclusive and relevant framework, such as encompassing unpaid household activity, and environmental assets. Continuing to develop thinking and data collections to extending economic measurement beyond GDP is essential to maintain a place for the SNA as a credible tool for understanding contemporary social and environmental problems.

In this paper, a novel and perhaps provocative focus on breastfeeding is used to show how key criticisms of GDP might be explored and addressed - 'beyond GDP but within the SNA'. Building on the precedent of Norway's food accounts, we propose further SNA development work through experimental accounts of breastfeeding as a 'canary in the coal mine' indicator of human well-being. While the primary discussion is of human well-being, we draw connections to SNA environmental accounting which reveals potential pathways for integrating human capital and environmental accounts.

#### Reform priorities - Beyond GDP but within SNA?

The national accounting community have made considerable progress in conceptualising and collecting data on non-market production, human capital and environment assets, as part of the program to reform the SNA to improve its relevance and usefulness. Nevertheless, amidst highly publicised claims of a global 'crisis of care' affecting the world's children, sick and elderly, and the intense scientific debate on the 'climate change crisis', public policy attention remains firmly anchored on maximising growth of the market economy as measured by GDP.

The SNA framework has become an important social institution; by measuring, it is shaping cultural norms about what is economically important. Reflecting its visibility and policy influence, as well as the priority given to market expansion, GDP is increasingly contested on social, economic and environmental grounds.

Recent public commentary on the EU implementation of SNA reforms in 2014 reflected a mix of dismay, confusion and disbelief that revisions to guidelines for the core GDP measure prioritised the inclusion of prostitution and the drug trade. The credibility of the SNA reform program for dealing with the problems facing society was severely damaged.

It is said that GDP doesn't judge 'bad' or 'good', and that there is an established practice of including illegal activities in GDP to maintain cross country and intertemporal comparability<sup>(12)</sup>. However, similar arguments might be made for including non-market household production. It is reasonable to question the usefulness and direction of SNA reforms which require that 'bad' things that men do, commonly exploiting women's economic vulnerability, must be counted in national economic performance because men can pay, whereas 'good' things like care work barely count because women can be coerced to do it for free.

As for the claim to moral 'objectivity', the underlying moral basis of GDP measurement is the measuring rod of money; market economy expansion is a policy priority because it is valued by those willing and most able to pay. This is itself is a moral position. As *The Economist* pondered on 'the Prosperity Puzzle' in 2015, 'Is a nation really doing better when its sex- and drug-trades are growing more quickly?' (13).

The contrast in reform priorities of including illegal prostitution in GDP, while not counting household production and work such as breastmilk or breastfeeding provides a useful background for exploring whether the supposed objectivity of SNA contains deep rooted gender biases and inequities, which not only reflect but also result from what is prioritised for measurement in GDP.

#### Measuring what people care about

In its reflections on its task, the 2009 Commission on the Measurement of Economic Performance and Social Progress ('S-S-F Commission') observed how the continued exclusion of home production distorts measurement of economic performance and development. It warned that 'failing to observe shifts from home production to market production may seriously bias our estimates of improvements in societal well-being' (1, p. 39):

As countries develop, there is often a shift from home to market production. The increases in market production may thus overstate increases in well-being. By the same token, policies that encourage market over non-market production distort the economy. Those engaged in non-market production often argue that not to include it in our measure of societal well-

being is to devalue the important services provided by those who are engaged in these non-market activities.

Economic performance evaluation and public policy needs to be informed by statistics which accurately portray the economy and women's contribution to it. Feminist economic scholarship since 1970s has emphasised how mismeasurement of economic well-being disorients public policy, and entrenches gender inequity. Vigorous feminist critique of the SNA by Marylyn Waring (14) inspired strong feminist scholarship and activism on valuing women's work in economic statistics (2), and made an important contribution to what is known as the "accounting for women's work project" (15, p. 131). This aimed for all women's work to be counted in statistics, accounted for in the representations of how economies work, and taken into account when policy is made (16). Nevertheless, as Valeria Esquival foreshadowed, "producing household sector satellite accounts does not by itself change macroeconomic policy" (17). Subsequent discourse has shifted in focus from simply "measuring" unpaid work, to the "three R's of unpaid work": recognition, reduction and redistribution. That is, to an emphasis on unpaid work as "essential to well-being", but "costly" for those who provide it, and justifying claims for strategic policy interventions to reduce unpaid work and redistribute its burden within and between households. (18) As discussed further below, 'the three R's' tie SNA guidelines and national accounting practice directly to accountabilities on universal economic and social rights.

#### Alternative concepts of well being

The S-S-F Commission reflected on alternative subjective and objective indicators of well-being for a reformed SNA framework. The capabilities approach, implies that GDP is just one input into development of a final product that is jointly produced by the family, the community, the market, and the state <sup>(19)</sup>. Provisioning humans rather than expanding the market sector thus becomes the main goal <sup>(20)</sup>.

Attention in feminist economics has focussed on the capabilities approach, made more gender inclusive by Nussbaum <sup>(21)</sup>, for measuring quality of life, within an economic conceptual framework which encompasses the value of unpaid household work <sup>(22)</sup>. Such a framework highlights important and under-theorised issues of unpaid work and allocation of resources to dependents, as well as of distributional justice <sup>(19)</sup>. Much unpaid household work, properly accounted for, is caring work, directed at meeting the needs of children and other dependents such as the sick or the elderly.

#### **Alternative indicators**

A number of gender inclusive measures have been inspired by the capabilities approach including initially, the Human Development Index (HDI) (22). Such comprehensive or composite measures are important for policy analysis and call the attention of policymakers in a way that more detailed information and indicators do not (15). Like SNA measures such as GDP, these can be also used for making comparisons in cross-country or country-level trend research, including for assessing policy effectiveness.

However, feminist economists have also pointed out the limitations of such indicators <sup>(22 p.31)</sup>. Some have been critiqued for being favourably biased towards developed countries by including income, and for failing to measure gender inequity. Different conceptual underpinnings for different indicators may make interpretation difficult, and country rankings may vary for different indices.

#### Survival and health outcomes

A key indicator of human well-being is mortality <sup>(23)</sup>, with evidence of girl preference that results in the disappearance of over a hundred million baby girls each year <sup>(24)</sup>. Life expectancy at birth may provide a better measure of gender equity than indictors incorporating reproductive health <sup>(25)</sup>. The growing 'double burden' of infectious illness and chronic disease arising from co-existence of under-nutrition and over-nutrition in many countries has triggered concerns that future generations could have shorter life expectancy than current generations <sup>(26)</sup>. Globalisation of food and nutrition systems has driven a 'nutrition transition' to unhealthy dietary patterns <sup>(27)</sup> and an emerging 'chronic disease epidemic, with heavy cost burdens on countries' health systems <sup>(28)</sup>. Because of their disproportionate role in unpaid health care, such chronic disease trends point to a unmonitored but growing family care burdens on women, exacerbated by the cost-shifting fiscal policies of the past decade <sup>(30)</sup>, <sup>31)</sup>. Some have warned of an emerging 'crisis of care' arising from lack of accounting for women's care work burdens in formulation of fiscal and employment policies <sup>(32)</sup>, <sup>33)</sup>.

#### Indicators of the influence of social institutions and norms on well being

With growing realisation of how social institutions and cultural norms affect the potential for well-being <sup>(34, 35)</sup>, indicators of legal and institutional barriers to equality have been developed <sup>(15)</sup>. Such measures are crucial as they draw the connections to institutions and cultural norms which create and entrench gender inequality. If women have a greater disposition to care for children and other dependents, that predisposition can be considerably strengthened or weakened by economic organisation and cultural negotiation.

Women's propensity to care for others is argued to account for many of the economic disadvantages they experience: if women cared less, they would earn more money and enjoy more leisure time. As Folbre observes, 'current debates over the organization of care work have grown out of awareness that specialisation in care work carries significant costs and risks for women' (36, p. 606). However, such analyses raise questions such as, what are the implications for well-being if women cared less? And would the quality of care provided decline if they did? (36, p. 597).

#### Total work hours as a gender inclusive well-being indicator

Most gender equity indicators focus on monitoring well-being outcomes for women. However, a focus on how time inputs to work - including for non-market production - are distributed, is also argued to be important to gender empowerment <sup>(37)</sup>. Hence, a deficiency of existing gender equality indicators is that very few include unpaid work such as care work <sup>(37)</sup>. Folbre has proposed gender sensitive indicators of 'inputs' to production which focus on time use, including who has access to leisure, to address this issue <sup>(37)</sup>. The increasing numbers of national time use studies provide data on work hours which may contribute objective indicators of well-being and gender equity within a capabilities framework. At the same time, time use studies have the advantage of being closely related to SNA concepts, including extended GDP measures of household production <sup>(37)</sup>.

#### The 'crisis of care' - measuring inputs to the care economy

The need for better measurement of care work as an economic activity in the SNA has been central to feminist critiques of GDP. As with any new area of research, on-going efforts are

required to achieve consensus on basic definitions. Nancy Folbre has proposed definitions for unpaid care work, in the context of SNA definitions of other types of work, including the production of goods for household consumption or subsistence production. This is considered to lie within the SNA 'boundary', though it is seldom measured accurately. Furthermore, care work is located in many different areas of the economy—ranging from the family to paid employment, and is performed on behalf of a wide range of care recipients.

'The informal sector, comprised of self-employed individuals, small businesses and temporary or contingent workers, often straddles the boundary between paid and unpaid activities, as when women street merchants tend their children (including breastfeeding them) even as they sell their wares' (37).

Folbre also observes that caring for other people's children, or other family dependents (whether sick or elderly), is commonly a form of informal reciprocity which is repaid in-kind. These examples draw attention to how such production and exchange should be conceptualised and measured in an SNA framework.

#### A human rights framework for policy relevance

A crucial weakness of existing gender inclusive indicators is that they fail to attract the attention that GDP gets from policymakers. A human rights focus based in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, is argued by feminist economists to have stronger practical relevance for policy assessment and evaluation, because of processes for scrutiny of governments, yet being complementary to the capabilities approach <sup>(38)</sup>.

A human rights focus also introduces provisioning criteria that are compatible with feminist economic perspectives. This can be used for evaluating the effectiveness of social institutions including markets in allocating resources and economic policies to satisfy countries' duties on essential social and economic rights, such as food, health and work. Such a focus also helps evaluate policies which make men and boys worse off, yet without improving women's capabilities. (22)

#### Asset depletion and SNA

Measuring the value of the human capital stock is an issue of longstanding interest and increasing relevance to contemporary policymaking  $^{(39, 40)}$ . Human knowledge, skills, competencies and attributes may be at least as important as a country's physical capital in determining a country's economic prosperity  $^{(41-44)}$ . Cost and income based measures date back to the  $19^{th}$  century  $^{(41,42)}$ .

An important contemporary reason cited for measuring human capital is as an indicator of overall economic well-being. Some studies identify declining values of human capital stocks as population aging offsets slowing investments in education <sup>(39, 40)</sup>. Population growth is central to growth in the human capital stock, and some studies taking a cost-based approach also account for the cost of non-market inputs to human capital stock.

Feminist economists have drawn attention to aspects of children and child-raising which can be considered as public goods, with important externalities affecting parental incentives to invest in children <sup>(7, 45)</sup>. However, women's contribution to the creation of human capital is yet to be fully captured in most studies of human capital stock which generally use income, rather than costs as the basis for its valuation, and focus on working age adults rather than

including children and the elderly. As Abraham and Mackie pointed out in 2005 <sup>(46, p. 79)</sup>, household investments augment the human capital of household members, especially the investments of time that parents and other family members devote to the care and nurturing of children.

No other outputs are as quintessentially nonmarket as the production and care of children. While parents may purchase assistance with the care of their children, market care cannot fully substitute for their personal attention. Some observers appear to view family care as akin to sunlight, available without cost in effectively unlimited supply and thus of no economic interest. Given recent societal trends, however, it may not in fact be safe to assume the availability of family care.

The relationship of non-market household investments in human capital and contemporary problems of aging populations are also evident in their comment that it would be logical to treat the physical production of children as a component of the human capital produced in the home. The authors warned that;

any effort to develop more focused human capital investment accounts, such as education accounts or health accounts that we recommend in later chapters—may yield misleading conclusions if those using the accounts do not recognize the contributions made by prior and concurrent investment activities in the home  $^{(46, p. 81)}$ .

#### Environmental resource depletion and degradation

High profile issues of global climate change also reinforce longstanding critiques of the validity of GDP and the SNA treatment of environmental asset depletion and defensive expenditures. The predominance of GDP growth as the key indicator for assessing the health of the economy is argued to maintain socially and ecologically harmful processes, including environmental degradation. Valuing the environment's contributions in economic analysis, policy formula and assessments is a necessary acknowledgement of the benefits for human well-being from ecosystem services (22).

Development of integrated environmental accounts within an SNA framework <sup>(47)</sup> is just one approach amidst a variety of environmental indicators being developed. For example, the OECD includes climate change indicators such as greenhouse gas emissions, and intensity of water use among key indicators for tracking progress on major environmental issues <sup>(48)</sup>. The important failures of GDP to measure the economic contribution of care work and to account for use of environment resources are linked, through its reliance on an economics paradigm that biases the use of resources towards meeting the requirements of market production <sup>(49)</sup>. To be relevant and useful to contemporary policy problems, future development of indicators within SNA will need to account not only for environmental depletion and degradation but also to understand the strong interconnections between the crisis of care and the deepening ecological crisis.

#### Overview

This paper explores the well-being measurement issues of gender equity, unpaid household production, human capital, and accounting for market failures and resource depletion through the lens of human milk, illustrating also the implications for public policy. We address the debate about the future of the GDP by arguing for producing experimental estimates of its time input costs and human capital outputs within an SNA framework.

Firstly we discuss key issues and gaps in SNA measurement of well-being, and how each pertains to breastfeeding and human milk. We then briefly review previously published studies of the economic value of human milk production for a diverse range of countries and regions, and consider the implications for public policies and well-being of its exclusion from measures of economic activity. Finally, we propose the preparation of experimental accounts of breastfeeding and human milk, encompassing the inclusion in core GDP, satellite accounts, and human capital and environmental accounts. It is our contention that considering breastfeeding and human milk as archetypal non-market goods and services in an SNA framework helps improve understanding of how key 'well-being' measurement issues might be advanced 'beyond GDP'.

## 2. The national accounting framework, non-market household production, and breastfeeding

The S-S-F Commission acknowledged the validity and importance of recognising the value of human milk production in countries' GDP in the context of commenting on the distortions to measurement and policy resulting from SNA exclusion of home production.

An important example may help make the point stronger. There is a serious omission in the valuation of home-produced goods – the value of breast milk. This is clearly within the System of National Accounts production boundary, is quantitatively non-trivial and also has important implications for public policy and child and maternal health.

The 2015 IARIW conference agreed that measures of social and environmental issues could be presented in a more inclusive statistical framework, and there was consensus that more attention should be paid to household related indicators. Statistical systems should be design with flexibility to allow for improved linkage of macroeconomic and micro data sources. The value of experimental work was also noted for developing and testing an extended statistical framework.

Considering breastfeeding or lactation within the discussion of production or productive work highlights an area where there are clear biological differences and physiological influences affecting preferences and underpinning what are said to be women's tendencies towards care work <sup>(36)</sup>. Evolutionary anthropology suggests that women have more to lose in terms of reproductive fitness from the death of a child, while men have less to lose from neglecting a child and offload the costs onto others. This implies that human females will devote more energy and resources to the next generation <sup>(36, 50, 51)</sup>. However, breastfeeding practices are also biocultural behaviour. Global and historical patterns and trends since industrialisation provide a contemporary demonstration that social institutions and cultural norms such as GDP and the valorisation of market work by social institutions including by the SNA framework can shape if not coerce, care work preferences of women. Societies inculcate caring preferences which greatly amplify the impacts of biological differences between men and women. <sup>(36)</sup> A considerable feminist literature points out the phenomenon of 'compulsory altruism', whereby expectations that care work is unremunerated in effect compel or coerce women to provide care and empathy for low economic reward <sup>(36, 52)</sup>.

Breastfeeding is not primarily an economic activity. Breastfeeding is a central element of an mammalian evolutionary template which optimizes infant survival by providing immunological benefits and regulating fertility in a way which maximizes population success <sup>(53)</sup>. However breastfeeding practices are also shaped culturally <sup>(54)</sup>, and by the availability of resources to the mother <sup>(55)</sup>.

It has long been recognized that breastfeeding decisions and behaviors are influenced by economic factors including its time opportunity costs, and the price of market substitutes for human milk <sup>(8, 56-58)</sup>. Breastfeeding and maintaining lactation to enable human milk production 'competes' with women's other paid and unpaid work activities, and with commercially marketed baby food products for maternal time and money resources. That is, at the population level, the 'price' of breastfeeding is economically significant, in the sense that price affects how much breastmilk women will 'supply' and how much they are willing to pay for it with their time or purchase with their money. Policies such as the availability of paid maternity leave and publicly funded childcare services influence the economic tradeoffs between breastfeeding, and paid maternal employment, and affect the overall economic productivity of women with children.

The level of social resources directed to infant care are in effect minimized by coercing such caring behaviors from women through exploiting women's biological drive, and the retention of deeply embedded patriarchal social institutions which maximize the surplus available to males (34, 36, 60). It can thus be argued that breastfeeding practices are an indicator of the growing phenomenon of 'compulsory altruism' arising from fiscal retrenchment since the global financial crisis. Breastfeeding and producing human milk requires input of women's time, skill and energy, but the SNA framework continues to exclude such marketable outputs from the important measures of economic activity. Folbre notes that

One salient activity that fits the SNA criteria but is nonetheless largely ignored within national income accounts is breastfeeding. This is a time and energy-intensive activity that is a quintessential example of food production for 'own use'. If mothers do not breastfeed, they must purchase market substitutes such as infant formula to feed their children. (19)

This paper discusses not only the inclusion of human milk in the core production boundary of the SNA, but also its conceptual relevance to adjustments for defensive health and environmental expenditures within core GDP, to satellite accounts of household time inputs and nonmarket household production of childcare and healthcare services, and to human capital stock and environmental asset accounts. In line with arguments that time inputs to household production may also reveal important aspects of gender equity <sup>(37)</sup>, we propose the use of time use data on breastfeeding as an indicator of maternal investments and gender equity in care work. Our approach is summarised in Figure 1. We suggest that as national data on breastfeeding prevalence is already collected throughout the world on a consistent basis, it can be considered as a practical and easily utilised 'canary in the coal mine' indicator of human well-being within the SNA economic framework.

Well-being, capabilities and human rights

From a 'well-being' perspective, breastfeeding can be argued to sit within the capabilities approach. Its importance to human health, survival and human development potential is deeply based in mammalian evolutionary history but is also situated socially <sup>(53)</sup>. Reflecting the dyadic relationship between the mother and young child, protection of breastfeeding is also woven into the complementary human rights framework, through UN Conventions defining the social and econom9c rights of women, as well as those defining the rights of the child <sup>(61-64)</sup>.

WHO, UNICEF and other health authorities recommend exclusive breastfeeding during the first six months of life and continued breastfeeding along with appropriate complementary foods until two years, or beyond <sup>(65)</sup>. These guidelines apply to all countries because there is

strong evidence that morbidity, mortality and child developmental impacts of infant and young child feeding are relevant in all country settings <sup>(66, 67)</sup>.

Countries' breastfeeding practices may provide a 'canary in the coalmine' signal of societal resourcing of mothers' unpaid care work (and its economic opportunity costs via maternity protection policies). Hence measuring the economics of human milk production of human milk provides a measure of maternal and child population well-being that is highly relevant to gender and social equity, nutrition and health and food system sustainability across diverse human populations. Unlike some other indicators of well-being, human milk is a commodity, production of which can be objectively measured using conventional, existing statistical collections.

Markets in human milk and breastfeeding

In 2015, a company called Ambrosia Milk began exporting human milk purchased from mothers in Cambodia for \$1 an ounce to be sold to mothers in the US for around \$5 an ounce which is the current price of human milk sourced from US milk banks. (68-71)

However, markets in human milk and breastfeeding are as old as the ancient practice of wetnursing<sup>(72)</sup>. Various forms of exchange and trade in human milk and breastfeeding have reemerged in a variety of country settings since the 1990s. Depending on the policy response to this development, international trade in human milk is potentially large, both to meet demand during humanitarian crises, and to arbitrate between the high demand, affluence and human milk scarcity in developed countries, and the significant potential milk supply and poor economic opportunities for women in developing countries.

Contemporary markets for human milk typically involve consumers such as health services, as well as less traditional, informal users including adults. Purchasers include:

- Hospitals and health services for vulnerable new-borns, or less commonly for the specialised nutrition or care of older children or adults
- Scientific research bodies, both academic and industry
- Corporations which process human milk for specialised care of premature or ill infants in neonatal intensive care units
- Individual consumers particularly mothers with a preference to provide human milk for their own infant's nutrition when their own milk or breastfeeding is not available
- Adults pursuing improved sports nutrition
- Adults males seeking sexual gratification

There are several different markets and key participants, as well as a range of prices for human milk or breastfeeding (Table 1)<sup>ii</sup>. Trade and exchange of human milk and breastfeeding services has expanded in part as a consequence of the internet which brings buyers and sellers together, and also the marketing of personal electric breast pumps which facilitate efficient extraction of human milk by mothers separated from their infant by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>ii</sup> Not identified in this table is the market for breastfeeding and human milk for adults or for research, which has raised concerns about the diversion of milk supplies for clinical use. The market values in this adult market are beyond the scope of the present study but are a concern for policy because these consumers appear to have a greater willingness and capacity to pay compared to not for profit human milk banks.

circumstances such as employment. The market for human milk has also expanded rapidly due to advances in human milk science <sup>(73)</sup>. The only producers of human milk and breastfeeding are women. Most operate in the non-market sector. However, there is also growing formal and informal involvement of market entities acting as intermediaries in its exchange. Breastfeeding and human milk compete with markets, because of the opportunity cost of women's time, and because of the wide availability and promotion of breastmilk substitutes such as infant or toddler milk formula <sup>(8)</sup>.

SNA guidelines and the national accounting framework

Substantially revised international guidelines for compiling GDP estimates, commonly referred to as SNA93, were published in 1993 (System of National Accounts 1993). Revised guidelines published in 2008 (SNA08) made few substantive changes to 1993 guidelines (74, p. 126)

SNA93 recognized some 'non-market' work to be within the 'core' production boundary. It included a category for "own account" production of goods by households, which included subsistence production in agriculture, and other goods produced by households for their own consumption, to be included within the core production boundary. Broadly, production of goods by households even if intended for their own final consumption, such as backyard production, food gathering, or on farm consumption of agricultural production, is considered as part of core GDP in the SNA framework.

Official imputations are now routinely made such as for non-marketed agricultural production and goods produced by households for their own consumption. (75) As Ironmonger and Soupourmas (76, p. 245) pointed out, SNA93 meant that;

'growing rice and chickens for use within the household is regarded as production of goods to be included in SNA production even if not for sale. Cooking rice and chickens for use within the household is regarded a production of meals and hence services not goods and is excluded from the SNA production boundary.'

The example of Australia shows how these guidelines have been applied in practice to estimate the value of own consumption of on-farm and backyard production by households. According to the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS);

'The SNA93 suggests that, in practice, goods produced in households for own use are to be included within the production boundary if the production is believed to be quantitatively important in relation to the total supply of those goods in the country concerned'. (75, p. 46)

#### **Unpaid household services**

Like its predecessor, SNA93 (and SNA98) continued to exclude from the core accounts the economic value of "own account" production of services by households.

However, recommended for the first time in SNA93 was the incorporation of unpaid work, including household work (such as domestic chores and childcare), volunteer work, and community work in satellite accounts. Although recognizing in principle the unpaid time inputs of households, such as women caring for infants and young children, household services remained outside of 'core' GDP. However, experimental accounts have been developed building on those produced by the Australian Bureau of Statistics in the early 1990s, and Eurostat more recently (777, 78).

#### **Human capital accounts**

Over the past two decades, the important role of households in building human capital has been identified as an issue for national accounting. In *Beyond GDP* the role of the family in creating human capital is acknowledged in a detailed exploration of families' role in health and education of children <sup>(11)</sup>.

Experimental accounts of human capital creation were prepared in Australia as early as the 1920s. At this time Australia's national statisticians applied modern methodologies for evaluating and including the value of human capital in economic statistics, showing that the value of human capital was several times the value of 'material' capital <sup>(41)</sup>. Likewise estimates by the ABS in 2001 showed the relative value of human capital when measured against physical capital.

Nevertheless, household inputs into to human capital reproduction and formation <sup>(79)</sup>, including the crucial contributions made through women's contribution to early nutrition, health and development of children <sup>(80, 81)</sup> remain uncounted in the SNA. Important building blocks for labour income in GDP do not include balance sheet accounting for human capital, and human capital studies often exclude households' non-market investments in human capital. <sup>(79, 82)</sup>

#### **Environmental capital accounts**

A growing literature calls attention to the adverse effects of globalised food production systems on the environment as well as human health. In 2016, the UN Food and Agricultural Organisation called for sustainability to be incorporated into food and nutrition policies, building on an expanding literature focussed on the environmental degradation arising from modern agricultural and food production systems.

Critiques of GDP treatment of the environment are well developed, focussing on resource asset depletion and defensive expenditures. Earlier work such as the seminal study by Nordhaus (83) and Peskin (84) has expanded into a vast literature critiquing the SNA treatment of environmental assets and ecosystem services. With emerging global scarcity of water resources, GDP has also been criticised for accounting poorly for environmental resource depletion and for counting the clean-up costs of pollution or environmental damage as contributing to economic growth rather than defensive expenditures.

However, experimental estimates of environmental assets were produced by the Australian Bureau of Statistics in the 1980s <sup>(3, 4)</sup>, and in 2012, key agencies published a framework for a System of Environmental-Economic Accounts (SEEA) <sup>(47)</sup>.

#### 3. National accounting for human milk and breastfeeding

The economic wealth of a nation is calculated in terms of a wide variety of assets ranging from raw materials and capital goods to the value added to natural resources through industrial processing. Human labor is a major economic resource and valued for its role in producing wealth through work, such as farming, extraction of raw materials, or manufacturing. The lactating mother is an exceptional national resource, for not only does she process coarse cheap foods to produce a unique and valuable infant food, but also the production process

(lactation) provides immeasurable benefits to health... In contrast to virtually all processing industries, the lactating woman requires no capital outlays and the direct benefits are enjoyed uniquely and fully by the producer and her child. Mothers' milk production is the ultimate in economic equity, with "right-to-work" enjoyed by all, direct and immediate value to the producer and far-reaching benefits affecting all of society (85, p. 166).

Human milk and breastfeeding represent the archetypal non-market household production of food goods and care services, which also contribute crucially to human capital quality by promoting health of mother and child over the lifecycle <sup>(66)</sup>, and to labor force productivity through reducing risks to women's health and child cognitive development <sup>(67, 86)</sup>. Notably, production capacity is available equally to all mothers and children regardless of financial wealth through biologically efficient processing of minimum additions of nutritional input to the mother. <sup>(87)</sup> Breastfeeding and human milk are shown below to provide a practical indicators of socially and economically valuable economic activity at the boundaries of markets, which usefully illustrate key issues and conceptual challenges in extending GDP within an SNA framework.

Gender equity and the time costs of household production and care

A key criticism of GDP has been its failure to measure or value the economic contributions of women in the form of labour inputs into household sector production of important non-market goods and services. These time costs have important social and gender equity implications. Just as expanded production accounts for Norway have revealed the equalising economic effects of non-market production for households <sup>(88)</sup>, studies have shown that breastfeeding contributes to child health equity by widening social access to preventative health care <sup>(89)</sup>. However, care work such as breastfeeding is time intensive, and well illustrates that the economic costs of providing care for young children fall heavily on women. This highlights the importance for gender equity of social institutions and cultural norms that reduce and redistribute the economic costs of women's time inputs in care of children, such as through paid maternity and parental leave and lactation breaks <sup>(9, 90, 91)</sup>.

Women work more unpaid hours than men, and longer overall, and much of the observed differences in men's or women's work days is associated with care of infants and young children <sup>(19)</sup>. Responsibility for providing care for family members disproportionately falls on women, a responsibility which directly reduces women's opportunities for earning, as well as limiting women and girls' access to education and other participation opportunities, and contributing to wage inequality such as through job segregation.

"In the short run, women's unpaid care work reduces the costs to other members of society of caring for dependents. In the long run, however, it may perpetuate the underutilisation of women's capabilities and discourage the development of efficient forms of social insurance and public care provision" (19).

Many alternative indicators of well-being involve measuring outputs of unpaid care work, to enhance its visibility and recognition <sup>(37)</sup>. However, measuring inputs of unpaid work time can provide an indicator of gender equity in workloads within an SNA framework, and potentially expose cost-shifting from other sectors.

Trade-offs between public provision and unpaid family care have become increasingly evident in the last decades of the 20<sup>th</sup> century with growing demands and pressures for state spending on childcare and social services. This has led to significant fiscal stress as well as drawing attention to the importance of gender and care issues <sup>(19)</sup>.

The care economy paradigm has emerged from work by feminist economists. (19) Unpaid work was previously ignored on the logic that nature or taken for granted as it was based on cultural values not economic logic, or was too difficult to measure or value. Motivations for more attention to unpaid care also emerges from feminist critique such as that by Fraser (92) of moves to a 'universal breadwinner' model of public policy in recent decades (37). Without accurate accounts of their work women are denied both recognition and policy attention to improving gender equality and access to decent work (93, 94). A relevant example is the recent World Bank recognition that breastfeeding is an investment (95, 96). Although breastfeeding was celebrated as being 'free', in the absence of supportive policies, the time needed for sustaining lactation and breastfeeding becomes yet another work burden to be juggled by mothers of young children within an already limited quota of leisure time. As illustrated by concerns at an emerging 'crisis of care', (33) depleting the Magic Pudding of Care cannot be assumed to be sustained forever by feminine altruism, which is being exhausted by the relentless demands of the modern labour market and the unfair distribution of care in the home (32).

#### Social institutions and norms shaping caregiving behaviours create 'prisoners of love'

The care paradigm insists that the family economy, including both the unpaid work of caring for family members and the financial support of dependents, cannot be relegated to the world of nature or the world of moral commitments—even though it is clearly influenced (as are all aspects of the economy) by both nature and morality. In particular, it examines the allocation of time between paid and unpaid work, with attention to the influence of social institutions and cultural norms, as well as relative prices <sup>(19)</sup>.

Unpaid care activities may be increasingly substituted for market care services during economic development. For example, extended measures of GDP which include the value of household production such as in the United States, Norway, Korea, Australia, and China, reveal that conventional GDP measurement of growth may mask declines in unpaid household production (88, 97-100).

Social institutions reinforce women's intrinsic motivations to care. However, specialisation in care work increases their economic vulnerability because it has high opportunity costs and is risky. Caring preferences also encourage occupational segregation. These factor helps explain lower earnings due to time out for care work and lower earnings in caring occupations <sup>(36)</sup>. The invisibility, unequal distribution, and excessive burden of this work on women alongside paid work responsibilities risks adverse implications for the health and well-being those they are caring for as well as for their own wellbeing. Folbre suggests that "Women may not be able to get the freedom to care less, unless they can persuade men to care more" <sup>(36)</sup>. They are, she says, 'prisoners of love' <sup>(36)</sup>.

For example, labour markets may systematically deprecate the value of women's care work  $_{(101)}$ 

'In an economy characterised by discrimination, where markets are imperfect' and exchange is governed by power relations as well as purely 'economic factors', imputations of the value of care work based on observed wages are likely to be biased downwards. (97)

Other authors have referred similarly to 'compulsory altruism' to describe the social institutions and ideologies of altruism which continue to demand ongoing contributions to care work of women without economic reward <sup>(52)</sup>. Indeed, the objectivity of market prices separate from their social institutional and cultural attitudes and values has been fundamentally contested by social anthropologists <sup>(102, 103)</sup>. Economic thinking on 'market design' and 'repugnant' markets <sup>(104)</sup> increasingly acknowledges the pervasive influence of cultural and social factors on market prices of certain goods and services.

The market value placed on breastfeeding illustrates how social institutions and cultural norms can differ over time and place regarding the acceptability of market exchanges (such as wet-nursing) and its appropriate remuneration <sup>(105)</sup>. An example of how social norms stigmatise well-paid employment of this kind is the ongoing criticism of women seeking work as wet-nurses in China <sup>(106, 107)</sup>, notwithstanding the long historical traditions of wet-nursing in China and many other countries.

#### Breastfeeding as a health care service

Health care is a household economic activity which has a particularly high potential market value <sup>(108)</sup>. Household health care services may complement or substitute for public services or for market sector services. It has been argued that measuring health services provided in households has high potential for developing indicators that can be integrated into an SNA framework. <sup>(108)</sup>

On the other hand, the absence of indicators of household health services from the macroeconomic aggregates of national accounts prevents public polices from duly recognising the economic value of such services within the framework of either public and private health care <sup>(108)</sup>. Displacement between sectors can result, for example, as health care costs and time pressures are shifted to households and women's unpaid care work through cutbacks to government services.

Despite its relative magnitude, the unpaid health services contribution of women is systematically excluded from coverage in the SNA, including in health sector accounts <sup>(30)</sup>. Health sector accounts reinforce the exclusion of health care services provided by the household sector, and further valorise market institutions and health care providers versus traditional medical knowledge and health care practices. This is despite the fact that women working unpaid in the household sector are crucial providers of health care services. A recent study led by Langer in *The Lancet* showed the scale of this contribution to health care provision, both in the household sector as well as in the market sector <sup>(30)</sup>. The large financial value of unpaid health care related duties that women undertake in their homes and communities was identified as a hidden subsidy to health systems and society.

Breastfeeding can be conceived as a valuable preventative health care service provided by households. Supplying human milk to infants and young children through feeding at the breast provides preventative health care and development benefits in addition to those arising simply from infants or young children's consumption of a uniquely tailored and biologically complex (109, 110) milk. These accrue in separate ways to the lactating woman and to children.

For women, producing milk gives rise to child-spacing and reproductive health benefits <sup>(66, 111-113)</sup>. For example, recent epidemiological research published in *The Lancet* identified that at least 20,000 women die annually from breast cancer that is attributable to a truncated durations of breastfeeding. Most of these maternal deaths are in high income countries where

breastfeeding duration is short <sup>(66)</sup>. The health system costs of treating breast cancers attributable to premature weaning from breastfeeding have been demonstrated to be substantial for the US and the UK, as well as countries in South East Asia<sup>(114-118)</sup>. For children, suckling at the breast rather than receiving milk in a bottle or other implement reduces risks such as bacterial contamination and infectious illness, as well as contributing to normal jaw and speech development <sup>(119-126)</sup>.

The contribution of time spent breastfeeding to child mental development has been well established including in large, high quality randomized controlled trials <sup>(127, 128)</sup>, and after adjusting for maternal and socioeconomic factors <sup>(129-131)</sup>. The effect on child cognition of introducing milk formula during an infant's first six months of life is comparable to low level pre-natal lead exposure <sup>(67)</sup>. Whether such effects arise from the biochemical composition of breastmilk or from the interactions with the mother is unclear <sup>(132)</sup>. However, animal studies suggest that lactation hormones drive mothering behaviours <sup>(133)</sup>. Recent large cohort studies suggest important role in developing maternal attachment and care <sup>(134)</sup>.

Breastfeeding is a service that is clearly marketable, its market counterpart represented by wet-nurse employment. As evident in Table 1, prices differ somewhat in different market segments, but range through prices based on 'cost-compensation' or 'quid pro quo' exchanges, to altruistic milk sharing (sometimes described as 'cross-nursing' or milk 'donation') with friends, relatives or at 'arms-length'. Despite the growing marketization of breastfeeding, time expended on it by women providing important preventative health and nutrition services within households are ignored in existing SNA frameworks for non-market or household production.

This has real world implications for public policy and women's well-being. For example, health promotion of breastfeeding has been identified in feminist critiques as a gender inequitable cost shifting strategy of governments in North America <sup>(135)</sup>, while the failure to account for excessive demands on women's time has been shown to undermine the effectiveness of health programs promoting breastfeeding and other health behaviours in lower income countries <sup>(136)</sup>.

There are challenges in developing a comprehensive frame of reference for all activities that can be considered health promotion and distinguishing the activities that are uniquely health related. However, Ferran has proposed a conceptual framework and guidelines to measure unpaid work in health care within the SNA framework through satellite accounts, which would naturally encompass breastfeeding and lactation work (108).

#### Breastfeeding and childcare services

Similarly, women are also predominant providers of childcare for young children in both the household and market sector. As Ironmonger showed for Australia, measured by hours, childcare is larger than any other industry sector <sup>(137)</sup>. Replacing household sector childcare services with market provision also highlights important affordability and quality issues, especially where some or part of the cost becomes a transfer or cost to the public sector. This draws attention to the need for fundamental reconsideration of how childcare work, both paid and unpaid, is conceptualised and measured <sup>(37)</sup>.

Care of children makes heavy demands on household time, especially when accurately measured, in all its dimensions. Care of infants and young children including breastfeeding is

particularly time intensive, involves frequent interruption and multitasking, and continued presence or proximity to supervise or respond to the child's needs (138).

Because such unpaid time inputs into nonmarket production of households are not valued in GDP, and shifts from the unpaid to the market economy are unobserved, it has been argued that health care and other policymaking is distorted in ways which exacerbate time pressures for women, and which further entrench gender inequity and disparities in women's and men's well-being (22) Also, the quality of market services may be inferior to home care, in particular because of productivity pressures in the market (37), with implications for child wellbeing.

Time devoted to unpaid care is assessed to decline with economic development, although time devoted to family care increases with family income<sup>(19, 139)</sup>. This may indicate that the process of economic development may place unsustainable but unmeasured demands on household's time, reducing well-being, resulting in policy concerns related to unintended fertility decline and population aging <sup>(140)</sup>. With rare exceptions, <sup>(141)</sup> macroeconomic models do not explicitly account for how unpaid labour produces and maintains the human and social capital that market economies rely on <sup>(19)</sup>. Identifying the short run cost shifting to households (and increased care penalty) of policies of reducing public services provides better indicators to motivate and guide provision of more universal and sustainable public services, and greater attention to the long run pay off to investing in development of human capabilities, including women's <sup>(31, 32)</sup>.

Again, the extent of breastfeeding and the time devoted to it might be viewed as a sensitive indicator of unmeasured household sector time inputs into non-market production, and excessive burdens on household's capacity during economic development. A number of studies of the time costs of breastfeeding exist for both developed and developing countries, and virtually all illustrate its time intensive demands on mothers of infants <sup>(9, 142)</sup>.

Breastfeeding is a form of care by households which epitomises the importance of unpaid care inputs as a measure of well-being. Breastfeeding exemplifies these issues because good nutrition and care of infants and young children is crucial to their survival and health, yet is highly time intensive, and almost exclusively done by women. Social institutions such as inadequate paid maternity leave, or employment and childcare arrangements which fail to accommodate family care responsibilities for infants and young children such as lactation work and breastfeeding contribute importantly to gender pay inequalities (143). As these time inputs to the care economy are not measured, public policy gives disproportionate attention to what is measured, and relevant policy measures can lack a suitable evidence base. Economic progress will be misleadingly measured by GDP, which fails to notice the displacement of equivalent non-marketed production and investment in human nutrition, health, and well-being – and early human capital formation - when market childcare and health care services expand. By contrast, policies which enable women to integrate social biological and occupational roles and function to their full capacity and realise their human rights will increase their contribution to economic progress without depleting women's capacity to care.

It is necessary to better understand the costs and rewards of care work, including by measures and indicators of how increased market income affects women's well-being and inequality. Failure to account for this work in labour force and health care policies has the potential to undermine the quality of care and nutritional well-being of dependent children, as well as women's health and well-being <sup>(30)</sup>. Women may even be worse off, with more financial responsibility, and increased sole parenthood revealed as a factor behind 'feminisation of poverty' in recent decades. As Folbre has written,

"We know little about the interactions between the unpaid care economy and the market economy, making it difficult to assess the impact of unpaid care on living standards, human capital or economic growth. As a result it is difficult to project the impact of demographic change such as population aging or falling fertility or possible defamilialisation on future economic trajectories (19)

Measuring time inputs to breastfeeding provide a simple indicator of such interactions and impacts, and the gender equity impacts and sustainability of care demands placed on the household sector. This also measures the provision of nutrition, care and preventative healthcare services to all countries' most vulnerable humans, infants and young children. Such an indicator based on national time use surveys could be extended within an SNA framework by using national accounting methodologies for its valuation.

#### Breastfeeding and women's leisure time

The above relates to indicators of work time as an input to economic output. Another indicator beyond the scope of SNA is leisure, which is conceptually related to work time, and is an important focus of time use studies into gender inequalities and work. It is not clear how leisure is affected; again women may be worse off despite conventional indicators showing economic gains. For example, Folbre has argued that an important aspect of gender inequalities in well-being are those that affect capacity to buy in or otherwise access help with care work in order to achieve more leisure. Inequality in access to leisure due to care responsibilities and time demands may also affect opportunities for women's education, and for education of their children. Alternatively, women may seek to minimise the unacceptable burden of care and reduction in leisure by remaining childless. (37)

Time use studies including those directed at measuring non market household production have been an important development within the SNA framework. Better data and modelling is needed to better predict the effects on economic development including on relative bargaining power in households and on costs of caring for dependents as a whole. As time use diaries fail to fully capture supervisory and on call time, they underestimate the temporal dimensions of care for dependents. (19, 37) A stronger empirical accounts framework in measuring women's time inputs into care work, and their true number of leisure hours, could help reveal linkages between micro studies of care economy for example of time use, and estimates of financial flows within and between households.

Breastfeeding of infants is a good example where supervisory responsibility is very high and constraints adult allocation of time even when no direct care activity is being undertaken. <sup>(138)</sup> In an Australian study conducted in 2006, many mothers of infants were found to have almost no leisure time that was not constrained by having the main responsibility for the infant's nutrition and care. <sup>(142)</sup>

#### Satellite accounting for time inputs into breastfeeding

The distinction between a good and a service in some areas is controversial among national accountants. However, breastfeeding is both a good and a service: the process of lactation produces a good, and nursing an infant is providing a service. Viewed as a service, production and consumption occur simultaneously. Valuing breastfeeding as own account household production of a service for own consumption would result in its inclusion in a satellite account of household production. Such an approach would value breastfeeding

mothers' time and give visibility to breastfeeding in the same way as other childcare activities. Eexperimental estimates involving breastfeeding could provide valuable practical experience with developing an extended statistical framework.

An illustration of the policy relevance of measuring time inputs into non-market household production is provided by considering the effects of economic reform on unpaid care work and well-being in China. Despite the value of essential unpaid care work in China being between a quarter and a third of GDP, as the authors observe,

.. the overriding concern of the Chinese government in the post-reform period has been to improve the productivity of paid work and maximize growth of per capita GDP, assuming that the provision of domestic and care services will adjust itself accordingly (144). As a result, the role of the state and the employers as a provider of social goods and services has been eroded; responsibility for social reproduction and "care"—a domain principally of the state in the urban sector under the planned economy—has returned to the household. This process has considerable implications for the work and status of women in both the home and the marketplace (p. 19).

The policy focus on the new market economy masked important unaddressed tensions between paid employment and unpaid care work for women in China <sup>(145)</sup>. Ignoring unpaid work burdens during China's economic transition has generated inequality in women's access to earnings and leisure <sup>(10)</sup>. A recent study in China identified the importance of indicators of unpaid work burdens which include the frequency of interruptions and shifts between paid and unpaid work, as well as the number of hours of unpaid work <sup>(10, 145)</sup>. Furthermore, unpaid work burdens have been shown in China to disrupt women's paid work productivity and directly account for around a third of the gender disparity in wages. Globally, the, lack of policy infrastructure to support combining care and paid work commitments is said to be an important reason behind a worldwide 'motherhood pay gap' <sup>(143)</sup>.

The non-accounting for women's unpaid lactation work during China's rapid market development likewise exemplifies how public policies informed by gender-biased economic statistical frameworks prioritize market development over broader economic development at women's expense due to their unpaid care work burden. Despite the importance of breastfeeding demonstrated by the 2008 melamine crisis, in which hundreds of thousands of infants were hospitalized and six infants died, public policy in China has prioritized development of the commercial milk formula industry (146, 147). The market for breastmilk substitutes has expanded dramatically in the past decade, but breastfeeding and human milk production declined. Health, labor market and market regulatory policies failed to recognize or respond to the economic importance these trends (148). Only in 2014 (149-154) did the national government initiate policies to stem the dramatic declines in breastfeeding that had occurred (155). A recent study estimated that health treatment costs of around \$224 million a year could be saved by even a small return to breastfeeding in China, while the economic loss from cognitive deficits associated with current feeding practices results in an ongoing annual productivity loss equal to 0.33% of China's GDP (86).

#### GDP and household outputs of human milk

Deregulatory policies and technical change have expanded the acceptable boundaries of the market to include conceptually challenging and sometimes 'repugnant' or even illegal commodities and services. This includes national and international trade in human tissues and body organs, sexual services, and birth surrogacy. In some countries it includes sales of human blood, semen, and human egg cells, or products and services with commerciality derived from these.

Unlike some other indicators of well-being, human milk is a commodity, production of which can be objectively measured using conventional, existing statistical collections within the SNA framework. Also unusually, human milk production and breastfeeding involves the female body as the production unit and the main resource costs are for maternal nutrition and time inputs.

It has been already been demonstrated that human milk production not only can be satisfactorily valued in GDP, and that its value is substantial enough to impact economic statistics and public policymaking.

Despite the SNA changes which bring human milk within the scope of the core production boundary, and evidence that its magnitude is substantial, national accounting practice is to continue to exclude human milk production from national economic accounts. By contrast, GDP includes on-farm cow's milk production, milk formula sales, and the health expenditures attributable to giving infants and young children breastmilk substitutes rather than breastfeeding. This results in GDP misleadingly measuring a rise in economic activity when breastfeeding declines and milk formula sales rise, and a decline in productivity when breastfeeding increases (156).

#### Estimated values of human milk and breastfeeding within an SNA framework

There are a number of estimates of the economic value of human milk output. The focus of these studies has been on measuring the economic value of breastfeeding by estimating losses in the volume and value of national food production due to declining breastfeeding. The method used in these studies is broadly consistent with the preferred national accounting 'output approach' to measuring GDP.

As identified in an FAO study in the late 1970s, estimating the production and consumption of human milk is relatively simple and accurate - breastmilk is "the only food commodity for which production equals consumption, that is, there are no 'post-harvest losses' or 'plate waste'" (Greiner, Almroth et al. 1979). The main variables in such estimates of human milk production are:

- the number of infants of the relevant age;
- estimated daily volumes of breastmilk production;
- breastfeeding prevalence;
- cost of inputs to human milk production, and;
- the value or `price' of human milk.

In the early 1970s, Alan Berg documented the expanding economic loss associated with formula feeding replacing breastfeeding in developing countries such as Chile, Kenya, Singapore and the Philippines (157). Likewise, nutritionist Jon Rohde (85, 158) calculated the quantities of human milk production for infants and young children in Indonesia during the 1970s and 1980s. Several studies showed the macroeconomic value of mother's milk for parts of Latin America, Sub-Saharan Africa, and India during the 1990s (159-163). An unpublished study using a model developed by the Academy for Educational Development & UNICEF to estimate economic benefits of breastfeeding for policymakers in developing

countries <sup>(164)</sup> was used to estimate the volume of human milk produced in China at around 4 billion liters in 2001.

Valuing human milk in GDP

These earlier studies used the cost of replacing breastmilk with cows' milk or formula as the market price with which to infer its economic value. National accounting principles suggest that production should be valued at market prices, as reflected in market transactions. This may involve using either using an 'input cost' based approach, or the market value of the output.

As most human milk production is not supplied to the market, and most human milk consumed is not acquired in the market, an important methodological question is therefore how non-market production and exchange of breastmilk should be valued or priced. This is not a problem unique to valuing human milk production, as for example, most meals are supplied by households in the home, and not acquired in the market, even if meal inputs are purchased. However, it is possible to value meals at home using market values. Likewise growing markets in human blood, tissues and organs present some comparable issues of valuation for national accounting purposes. Nevertheless, where markets exist, the preferred national accounting approach is to use the market price of an analogous product, or if a market price is not available, to infer its value by measuring the cost of inputs to its production, even if some production is not sold (156, 165) (166).

Arguments for retaining the national accounting status quo have included questioning whether or not there is a true 'market' in human milk which characterized by 'economic pricing'. As documented earlier, breastmilk is now actively traded and exchanged across national borders <sup>(156, 166)</sup>, and there is a large literature showing that breastfeeding is reduced by early maternal employment and vice versa <sup>(167)</sup>. This supports the argument that human milk production is an economic activity where both producers and consumers are influenced by economic rewards including market incentives <sup>(8)</sup>. The existence of commercial markets in human milk products means there are prices of a closely related or 'analogous product' - a shadow price - from which to impute its economic value for experimental accounts purposes.

It may be argued that the price of formula, which is lower, should be used to value the lost economic value when human milk production is replaced by formula feeding, as the mothers who formula feed may not value breastmilk as highly as breastfeeding mothers. However, market prices for formula only show that consumers value bovine-based milk or plant-derived formula milk products at this price, not how much they may be willing to pay for human milk. The price of formula may be low because women consider breastmilk substitutes to have a lower economic worth. At present, some formula-feeding mothers may not be able to purchase breastmilk. Previous studies discuss methodological issues of valuing human milk within an SNA framework in more detail (156, 168, 169).

The validity of milk bank prices as a value for human milk output has been tested by examining the prices resulting from other valuation methods (156, 169) and considered in its application to the US, Australia and Norway (168). If market prices are not suitable, then national accounting practice allows measurement of its value through the input costs of producing it. The amount of time it takes to express milk can be estimated and an appropriate wage rate applied to value the opportunity cost of time. A common approach in national accounting is the 'replacement cost' method (Australian Bureau of Statistics 1990). This approach, for example, values the milk producing functions of the mother by estimating the

cost of employing a wet nurse, which is a form of professionalized employment at breastfeeding that has long been a commercial activity (<sup>72, 170)</sup>. The opportunity cost method is another, more contentious approach to valuing time inputs to production of non-marketed goods. This input cost approach is used to value 'difficult to price' products such as human blood or sperm at the time cost people pay to obtain it. An estimate of the input cost of human milk can be derived by estimating the time it takes to express breastmilk, including transportation or traveling costs. Difficulties nevertheless arise in determining whether a general wage or a specific wage is most appropriate for valuing the time of mothers, who may not be employed. Using the price of milk exchanged by milk banks has therefore been argued to be the most consistent with national accounting practice, and with accurately measuring the value of human milk as a food/medicine. <sup>(56, 162, 169)</sup>.

Several studies since the 1990s have shown the practicability of this approach for estimating the economic value of human milk production, and its substantial value in relation to GDP using market prices <sup>(56, 156, 159-163, 165, 166, 169, 171)</sup>. Data on mothers' milk consumption has been included since the 1970s in Norway's Food Balance Sheets, alongside estimates of consumption of meat, eggs, and other food which are important in the local diet <sup>(172)</sup> and Norway still routinely enumerates human milk production in with its national food statistics. <sup>(172)</sup> Official Norwegian estimates show that in 2011, Norwegian infants up to 2 years old consumed an estimated 10.5 million liters of mothers' milk. In a 1994 study by Oshaug and Botten <sup>(162)</sup> the authors calculated that in 1992 production of human milk in Norway was 8.2 million liters, with an approximate value of \$US400 million per annum. Production of human milk was valued using a market price for human milk — the cost of banked human milk traded by Norwegian hospitals, 344 Norwegian kroner (\$US50) per liter in 1992. A subsequent study of human milk production in countries in sub-Saharan Africa <sup>(163)</sup> used a 'very conservative and very low price' of \$1 per liter to concluded that the GDP of Mali and Senegal would have been increased by 2-5 per cent if the value of human milk were included in GDP.

This same valuation approach was adopted within a national accounting framework in research evaluating human milk production in Australia for the same year <sup>(56, 169)</sup>. Our Australian study estimated human milk production for infants and young children up to two years of age at around 33 million kilograms per annum in 1992. This had a value of A\$2.2 billion at a 'market alternative' shadow price of A\$67 (US\$50) per liter.<sup>iii</sup> This was equivalent to around 0.5% of GDP, or 15% of public spending on health. It was also equal to around 6% of private final consumption expenditure on food at that time. By comparison, retail sales of commercial formula milk were estimated to be around A\$135 million in that year.

Most recently, estimates of the economic value of human milk production for a selection of countries show the large economic losses from low breastfeeding rates, and the overall economic impact of displacement of breastfeeding during market development (Tables 2 and 3). These estimates, drawn from three recent studies (171, 173, 174) illustrate that the value of human milk even in developed countries, with small populations, or where breastfeeding is low, is qualitatively important compared to other goods produced for own consumption by households. It is also of a magnitude comparable with illegal activity such as prostitution, has

\_

iii This study took the price of expressed human milk traded by milk banks in Norway (344 Norwegian kroner (\$US50 or A\$67 per litre) as the 'market alternative' price for breastmilk in Australia, there being no human milk banks operating in Australia at that time. Exchange conversions for 1992 were at \$AI = \$US.75.

been included, albeit controversially, in UK and other European Community national accounts  $^{(175,\,176)}$ .

Breastfeeding prevalence in most countries is well below its biologically feasible potential. As shown in a previous study, if breastfeeding had been at biologically feasible levels in Australia in 1992, the value of human milk production would have been A\$3.4 billion higher, with a potential volume of production estimated of 84 million kg p.a. This was potentially worth around 1.3% of GDP, or 40% of public sector spending on health. Alternatively, it represented around 17% of private final consumption expenditure on food in Australia (56, 169).

Table 2 compares potential production of human milk in 2010 with actual production for that year for selected countries. This comparison with the biological potential gives some indication of the scale of the gross economic loss from substituting commercial IYC milk formulas for non-market household provision of human milk. Worldwide, production in 2010 was just over half of the biological capacity, with losses of around \$1,397 billion. The United Kingdom utilized only a fifth of its households' capacity to produce US\$3.9 billion of human milk, foregoing over US\$15 billion of its potential output due to very low breastfeeding rates. The Philippines, on the other hand (producing US\$ 39.7 billion of output) utilized two thirds of its capacity by practices favoring continued breastfeeding of older babies and toddlers.

As shown in Table 3, (which uses more standardized WHO indicators of breastfeeding practice and an updated market price of US\$100 per liter), mothers in India produce over 7 billion liters a year of human milk. This has an estimated value of US\$741 billion a year. Potential production from increasing breastfeeding to biologically optimal levels is US\$335 million a year.

Because of lower breastfeeding rates, the value of human milk produced in China, a comparable sized middle income nation, was much lower, at around 2.3 billion liters in 2012. This had an estimated market value of some U\$\$248 billion, but with over \$526 billion of foregone human milk production. Of particular interest in the present context is that the decline in breastfeeding in China since 1999 has resulted in a dramatic but unmeasured deterioration in unpaid household production, with a loss of around 700 million liters of breastmilk per year, because of the dramatic declines in exclusive breastfeeding of infants (0-6 months) from 67% to 28% since 2008 (177). Replacement of breastmilk in the diet of infants amounts to a loss of economic production in China of around U\$\$77 billion p.a. The overall annual loss of production represented by declining breastfeeding of infants and toddlers in China since the 1990s is of the order of U\$\$335 billion a year.

Defensive expenditures – the food and health care cost externalities of breastmilk substitutes

Expenditures on breastmilk substitutes such as milk formula are included in GDP, with some estimated country retail sales presented in Table 4. GDP considerably overstates the gain in economic production from such products because these products substitute for breastfeeding and human milk production. GDP also overstates the gain to economic well-being by including 'defensive expenditures' on healthcare services for illness and disease attributable to replacement feeding with milk formula. Human milk and breastfeeding exemplifies the issue of health cost externalities of globalized food systems, because the rapidly increasing global displacement of breastfeeding with processed milk products (86, 178) results in increased population health and disease and higher health system costs, whilst also creating health cost externalities for families, employers, and public health systems.

A number of studies have shown the substantial national health system and other treatment costs associated with milk formula use. These studies include morbidity or mortality from acute conditions such as gastrointestinal illness or chronic disease such as diabetes or maternal breast cancer and have been shown for a diversity of countries high, middle and low income settings including in North America, Europe and Asia (66, 86, 114, 117, 118, 179, 180).

There are also financial burdens on families due to health expenses of nutrition related chronic disease, and important social equity issues due to the financial burden of out of pocket health care expenditures in impoverished populations lacking access to publicly funded health care <sup>(181)</sup>. A further unmeasured economic burden falls on unpaid family caregivers, disproportionately women, for whom the added time pressures of caregiving compound existing financial and other disadvantage. This been cited as 'a potential burden and threat to women's health and well-being: little time is left for rest and leisure <sup>(30)</sup>.

Similar issues arise regarding the environmental cost externalities of replacing breastfeeding with milk formula products. These environmental impacts are discussed in relation to environmental assets though some may be more properly accounted for in the SNA framework as defensive expenditures.

Capital accounts

#### **Human capital formation**

Household time inputs into unpaid care work provide important resources for development of human capabilities. Measuring care contributions to social capital and human capital is argued to be crucial to economic development <sup>(37)</sup>. Breastfeeding was recently identified by the World Bank as a key investment in population health <sup>(95, 96)</sup>.

Breastfeeding therefore has potentially important long term economic consequences for the quality of human capital, through its effects on population health and child development.

Early life nutrition and feeding practices affect child cognitive development, with consequences for educational attainment and future labour force productivity. Iron insufficiency among children was estimated in 2001 to cost China 3 per cent of GNP annually in lost labour productivity via an 8 percentage points reduction in cognitive performance (182). There are now several well conducted cohort and experimental studies (131, 132, 183-185) and a recent systematic review (128) representing strong evidence that children deprived of optimal breastfeeding in infancy have lower cognitive and academic achievement and mental health in later life. In particular, a major cluster randomized trial sponsored by the WHO involving more than 17,000 children found that weaning from exclusive breastfeeding before 4 months was associated with an average IQ disadvantage of around 3-7 percent at age 6 (127). Lack of adequate breastfeeding compares with low level prenatal lead exposure or several months of lost schooling as a risk factor for child cognitive development <sup>(67)</sup>. A major study recently published in The Lancet estimated global losses of more than \$300 billion annually due to current suboptimal feeding practices, with estimates for 80 individual countries including the US, UK, Australia, Norway, India, and China (86, 186) of \$84.2 billion, \$16.5 billion, \$6 billion, \$1.5 billion, \$0.6 billion, and \$26 billion a year respectively for 2012. The annual productivity gains from increasing low US breastfeeding rates were recently estimated in a separate study at \$40 billion (186).

Chronic disease arising from nutrition related factors is increasingly recognised to affect work productivity and capabilities in later life, and therefore on the economic quality of a country's human capital stock. Replacement of breastfeeding with breastmilk substitutes also increases later life chronic disease risk for both mother (reproductive cancers such as breast cancer risk) (66, 111) and child (obesity, diabetes, etc.) so affecting labour force productivity at the population level.

The cultural healthcare knowledge and skills of women about breastfeeding also represents an important capacity for food production and health care provision. Our own study estimated the rate of return on this capacity to represent a significant national asset <sup>(156)</sup>. The potentially significant costs of rebuilding this capacity where it has been lost are noted in the recent *Lancet* study <sup>(188)</sup>.

#### **Environmental assets**

Human milk exemplifies the issue of environmental resource depletion because milk formula manufacture and use contributes significantly to environmental damage and resource depletion, whereas the environmental consequences of breastfeeding are minimal. This environmental impact occurs throughout the product life cycle, and includes dairy industry related land clearing and water use, greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) from livestock production, energy and water use during manufacture and consumption phases, and waste disposal. Estimates of the implications for GHG emission are now available based on Euromonitor International industry datasets on retail sales. Based on results of life cycle assessments (LCA) of milk formula ingredients, GHG emissions for milk formula were estimated to be four times higher per kilogram than raw cows milk, which is well established as having a concerningly high GHG impact. A recent study of high, middle and lower income countries in Asia showed that greenhouse gas emissions of 2.2 million tonnes CO<sup>2</sup> eq. were generated in China as a consequence of formula sold in that country in 2012 (179).

#### 4. Discussion: Including human milk and breastfeeding in experimental accounts

The contribution of this paper is to show how SNA concepts and indicators may be extended and integrated with frameworks for alternative indicators (such as the capabilities approach or a human rights framework), through consideration of human milk and breastfeeding as a microcosm of an unmeasured system of non-market food production, and care provision, which sustains infants and young children and human capital formation, yet competes with breastmilk substitutes the production and sale of which are inaccurately measured in GDP as the only component of this 'IYC food economy'. It brings together a substantial economic literature discussing how to improve GDP measurement – incorporating feminist economic critiques - with evidence from the nutrition and health research fields on economic costs and benefits of breastfeeding.

Above we have illustrated how experimental accounts could be constructed, to include human milk production and consumption in core GDP, adding women's time cost inputs to breastfeeding into satellite accounts for childcare and health care services, and developing a capital account measure of its contribution to the human capital stock. We note how such an approach highlights the implications for equity of unaddressed time stresses on women through increasing the 'double burdens' of care work associated with the global nutrition transition and rising epidemic of chronic disease. We also identify how such accounting could incorporate adjustments for relevant health and environmental cost externalities, whereby increased sales of breastmilk substitutes and associated higher health expenditures

are counted as defensive expenditures and the greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental harms associated with milk formula production are appropriately accounted for in environmental accounts as resource depletion and/or decline in ecosystem services.

Since changes to SNA guidelines in 1993, women's production of breastmilk (though not breastfeeding) has come within the scope of GDP measurement. Breastfeeding is a time consuming childcare activity classified as an unpaid household service, to be included in 'satellite accounts'. Human milk is a good, which can be stored, exchanged and traded, and is exchanged in markets which provides suitable prices for valuing household sector output. A range of markets and market prices for human milk exist that provide a basis for valuing this production of human milk in GDP on an output basis. Even putting aside the separate additional value of breastfeeding as a service, the value of human milk is 'quantitatively important'. Indeed as shown in the above review, it is of a magnitude that is comparable with other production for which values are already imputed such as households' 'backyard production' of food, or on-farm consumption of farm product in Australia.

Recent research has demonstrated the magnitude of actual and potential human milk production for a range of countries using standard national accounting concepts and guidelines. Building on studies on the economic value of human milk in Norway in the 1990s, it is already demonstrated within an SNA framework that human milk has a potentially significant economic value in relation to GDP in high income countries (171). Even valued at a much lower price of \$1 per ounce, the economic value of human milk production also adds significantly to the value of GDP in African countries (163).

The value of human milk production in both developed and developing country economies is large relative to that of market production, and also emphasizes the extent of the production loss implicit in present practices of early weaning from exclusive breastfeeding. Human milk production in many countries is presently only around a fraction of its biologically feasible production level. (173)

Such estimates of gross output within an SNA framework for a representative selection of countries illustrate that;

- The volume of human milk output can be measured through a simple methodology that is available for most countries
- A reasonably satisfactory basis for the valuation of human milk output is available from existing markets in human milk. While the data presented on the value of human milk has some uncertainties, national accounts and GDP estimates already incorporate a range of economic statistics with varying reliability but still prove useful. Under SNA93 and subsequent revisions, GDP should incorporate this substantial production of human milk by households for their own and for others consumption. It is practical to do so using the preferred output measurement method. The volume of human milk production can readily be estimated from regular collections of reliable national survey data on breastfeeding in many countries.
- Production of human milk is quantitatively important and of significant economic value, including in relation to total market production of commercial infant formula and foods. For example, alongside human milk production estimated here around \$US45 billion in the United States, the commercial baby food/formula market in that country is reported to be \$US1.5 billion a year. Likewise, in China the market for

commercial baby milk/food is reportedly around \$US3-6 billion p.a., versus a current production of human milk worth \$US304 billion (see Table X).

Human milk meets the criteria for inclusion within the SNA93 core (GDP) production boundary, while established methods including time use surveys provide the basis for also measuring and valuing household time cost inputs to breastfeeding. Nutritional input requirements have been shown in previous studies to generally be minimal.

Here we have shown that examining breastfeeding and human milk production as a microcosmic non-market economic activity reinforces findings of previous macroeconomic analyses (14, 191-194) concluding that non-measurement of women's productivity biases public policies, and leads to disadvantage and economic injustice for women.

Economic output as currently measured in GDP is an incomplete and biased measure of national economic output. For example, not to include human milk in GDP considerably distorts cross country and intertemporal comparisons of national food output, including for lower and middle income developing countries such as India or China, where breastmilk production remains a much larger share of IYC food production than in the US, the UK, Australia or Norway.

The S-S-F Commission pointed out that excluding household production biased measurement of economic progress during development, as economic activity which is not counted in GDP shifts to the market sector where it is counted <sup>(1)</sup>. The importance for public policy priorities was also noted. The implications for gender equity of ignoring the time expenditures/investments of women, and how policy failures resulting from this contribute to 'maternal depletion' were not explored in detail by S-S-F.

#### Experimental accounts

Experimental estimates are a well-established practice for exploring how to adapting the SNA framework to a changing world, and have been a central strategy for maintaining relevance particularly since the conceptual and political challenges to the SNA since the 1980s.

The arguments for the inclusion of human milk output in core national accounts, and the implications of breastfeeding and human milk for the capital accounts have been expanded on elsewhere (156). Briefly summarized, experimental accounts would;

- add to measured GDP the annual market value of human milk produced, after
- **deduct** the goods cost of human milk production (additional food consumption for lactating mothers is already included in final consumption expenditures, but should be counted as intermediate consumption), and
- **deduct** from GDP an amount reflecting any reduction in market productivity by mothers which is <u>necessary</u> because they are breastfeeding. This highlights that workplace or other barriers to employment by breastfeeding mothers may be economically inefficient, even if the benefit to employers of removing such barriers is small or if it is costly.

There should also in principle be adjustment for the negative externalities of artificial formula manufacture, distribution, and use, including **deducting** from measured GDP the public and

private health expenditures associated with increased relative risks of infant and maternal ill health and later life chronic disease from current levels of milk formula feeding.

Lactation and breastfeeding is also relevant to measuring a nation's capital stock. As noted above, current national accounting practice fail to properly value the unpaid household nutrition, health and education activities contributing to human capital creation <sup>(11, 195)</sup>. The unique biological capacity and culturally acquired skills of women to breastfeed and lactate can also be conceived of as a natural capital asset with a health care value equal to the capitalized value of its future net income stream. The actual and potential value of this asset is large <sup>(156)</sup>. However, gaining the benefit from this breastfeeding asset requires skill and knowledge that is largely culturally acquired, mother to mother, or through public education and institutional or organizational channels.

The ability of any society to maintain current or potential production levels of breastfeeding and human milk production is determined by whether there is a supportive breastfeeding culture and social institutions, including variables such as adequate maternity protection for women participating in the labor market, as well as suitable childcare and maternity care services, regulation of marketing of breastmilk substitutions and other elements prioritized in the WHO/UNICEF *Global Strategy on Infant and Young Child Feeding* and related WHO guidance <sup>(86)</sup>.

Environmental accounts and defensive environmental expenditures should also be adjusted to account for dairy industry and formula manufacture and consumer stage depletion and degradation impacts of impacts of milk formula production, processing, and transportation and consumer use externalities on land, water and air.

Arguments against including human milk and breastfeeding in GDP

A variety of practical and conceptual barriers have been put forward by statistical agencies against including household work in GDP (17, 18, 194, 196, 197). Objections might include a) that its production is not related to market activity or economic pricing, and b) that its inclusion would disrupt conventional measures of output, as the large size of household production swamps the value of market production in the total economy. Including household services in GDP may be said to detract from its usefulness to policymakers (197, 95). Accounting for household services through 'satellite accounts' allows analysis to be expanded without 'overburdening or disrupting the central system' (198, para. 21.4). For example, when considering in 1990 whether unpaid work should be included in the SNA, the ABS advised the Australian Government that unpaid work of households was not capable of being marketed, and was not related to market forces as directly as goods. Although the ABS acknowledged that institutional and labor market changes could result in activities shifting into and out of the market sector over time, creating artificial changes in measured GDP, the Government was advised that unpaid work should be measured instead in separate but consistent accounts because the market sector was the primary concern for macroeconomic policy considerations (77, 6-7)

It is incorrect to apply this argument to human milk production. Production levels of human milk are closely related to market activity, with direct competition to breastfeeding from

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>iv</sup> For example, for a 50 year time horizon and at a 5 per cent discount rate, the present value of this human capital asset in 1992 was comparable to the value of Australia's public telecommunications company, then around A\$30 billion, and greatly exceeds the value of Australia's livestock (A\$17.9 billion) and plantation forests (A\$4.5 billion) (Australian Bureau of Statistics 2000a). At BFPO levels of breastfeeding, the capitalized value of human milk production in Australia would be around A\$100 billion, nearly three times its current level and comparable to the country's subsoil mineral assets.

companies selling and profiting from sale of infant feeding products. Labor market participation and breastmilk production compete directly <sup>(8)</sup>. Also, its production, delivery and exchange for money or as a gift should be of considerable concern to health economic policymakers and regulators despite not being in the market sector.

It is also questionable as to whether other conventional arguments for excluding unpaid work from GDP apply to lactation work and human milk production. For example, Collas-Monsad (197, 95) has identified arguments that excluding unpaid work is necessary to maintain the usefulness of the accounts to policymakers. It is said to avoid "overburdening or disrupting the central system" (198, para. 21.4). However, it is difficult to see why 'disrupting' the system by comparing these values is undesirable, or why it 'overburdens' policy analysis to show the large magnitude of non-market production of infant food. Exclusion of the economic value of human milk production from GDP measures means in Australia for example, that concerns at the viability of commercial firms producing less than \$500 mill of market output per year dominate policy at the expense of the unpaid producers of \$2 billion or more of household production. In the United States, public funds underpin the profitability of distributing free or low cost formula to around many households with children. WIC has recently provided between 57% and 68% of all infant formula sold in the United States (199), a market estimated to be around \$US1.5 billion a year (Table 7). This raises questions about the economic efficiency and productivity cost of allowing sales of commercial infant formula to undermine breastfeeding and production of human milk that is potentially worth US\$108 billion annually.

Likewise, it is difficult to see why overburdening policy analysis with data showing the magnitude of the related non market production is so disturbing to policy perspectives. Including breastfeeding in GDP would surely enhance monitoring and analysis of long term productivity trends and patterns in the food, nutrition and health sectors because of the long term consequences for maternal health and well-being, as well as longer term human capital quality including cognitive performance, and chronic disease risk.

Another reason that women's work is still not measured in key economic statistics is said to be the costs involved in changing the collection and use of national accounts (195, 30). In a sharp contrast to the lack of resources devoted to better measuring the very large household production sector, national accounting standards in Europe now require sexual services to be included in GDP (200), even this is extremely difficult to measure accurately and relatively small compared to household production. In Britain, this added 0.7% to GDP, these calculations used crude proxies to value illegal sex services, based on the male population, and prices at strip clubs. The importance of international and temporal comparability is cited by the OECD to justify including illegal activities such as prostitution in GDP to make it 'robust', by using 'emerging best practice' to make 'reasonable best estimates' even where the practical difficulties are 'non-trivial', and especially where the magnitudes are 'more substantial'. (12)

Nevertheless, it has been pointed out that valuation of non-market work is on especially solid methodological ground compared to these recent revisions. (201).

The current System of National Accounts that guides most national statistical offices stipulates that the value of household services is beyond the 'production boundary'. The value of goods produced for own consumption, however—including grains, vegetables, milk, water and firewood collected for own consumption—lies within that boundary. In

<sup>v</sup> National accounting rules in the European Union now include estimating the value of national trade in sexual services of women, though not their trafficking.

31

principle, the value of what is often termed 'subsistence production' should be included in measures of household and national income. Yet it is by no means clear that all countries do an adequate job of estimating the value of such goods. Further, virtually all ignore the value of a good with medically proven benefits for infants—breast milk, even though its value can be estimated rather easily from health survey data on the number of nursing mothers in a population. Detailed calculations for Australia, for instance, suggest that it amounts to almost 1 percent of conventionally measured GDP (Smith and Ingham 2005). The policy implications are disturbing: Increased purchases of infant formula increase a nation's GDP even as they displace the nutritionally superior alternative. Another problematic imputation, mandated by the European Economic Community, requires national statistical offices to estimate the value of illegal transactions involving drugs and prostitution, even though very little reliable data on such transactions is available.

There is also a growing awareness on the need for SNA measurement of care work to include breastfeeding <sup>(37)</sup>. For example;

One important care service that theoretically falls within the purview of the SNA but is not explicitly listed there is breastfeeding. This service results in the creation of a product, breast milk, which is an important component of total subsistence production. If breast milk is not provided, market substitutes for it must be purchased. Indeed, breast milk itself is bought and sold in many countries, albeit in small amounts, making it possible to impute its value using a direct market price. Efforts to calculate its value within a national income accounts framework are underway in some countries and should be extended to others <sup>(156)</sup>. The current economic invisibility of breastfeeding has important policy implications. The premature weaning of children onto formula or solid food increases children's vulnerability to malnutrition and disease, and increases aggregate health costs. Because these costs are diffuse and spread over a long period of time, it is difficult to link cause and effect.

#### Folbre also observes that:

"Unpaid care work represents a subset of all paid work, and is not perfectly synonymous with 'non-market work' or work that does not yield a direct monetary reward. Many censuses and labour force surveys in developing countries enumerate 'unpaid family workers' who contribute to a family farm or enterprise without receiving direct payment. Many of these workers are engaging in activities that are indistinguishable in most respects from paid employment. SNA considers some forms of 'non-market' work within the 'production boundary', and recommends inclusion of estimates of their value within national income accounts—primarily production of food for own consumption, but also gathering of fuel wood and collection of water. These activities are generally not considered forms of unpaid care.

#### 6. Conclusions and implications

SNA is a social institutional framework which contributes to globalizing cultural norms, policies and practices which deprecate the economically valuable but unpaid household production such as breastfeeding, and depletes women through the unequal sharing of the double burden, and inflexible institutions of paid and unpaid work. Countries' continued exclusion of unpaid household work reinforces concerns that the important reform agenda laid out by Waring's critique of national accounting as 'applied patriarchy' remains largely unimplemented (202).

The fundamental importance of human milk in national food systems has long been recognised in Norway, which includes human milk produced by Norwegian women in its

national food consumption statistics. (162, 203) This practice could be extended to include the worldwide production of food balance sheets.

Current SNA provides for inclusion of human milk (though not breastfeeding which as a service is counted only in the satellite accounts), however, only commercial milk formula is presently counted <sup>(156)</sup>. The ongoing practice of ignoring human milk production in GDP measurement results in the paradoxical observation of GDP rising when breastfeeding declines and commercial formula consumption rises, and GDP falling when breastfeeding increases.

A highly relevant example of the pervasive policy impact of this invisibility in economic statistics is the recent dramatic rise in global milk formula sales in the Asia Pacific region led by China <sup>(86, 178)</sup>. High demand from working mothers is contributing to dramatic declines in breastfeeding. Time use studies show that economic development is exacerbating the time poverty of working mothers in China who often lack adequate access to maternity protection measures and suitable work settings, in a context of inequitable sharing of unpaid household work burdens <sup>(10, 144)</sup>.

The example of breastfeeding also illustrates the importance of the accurate measurement of the demands of unpaid care work for public policy regarding women's labor force participation, and the health and well-being of mothers and children. As Folbre pointed out;

... it is clear that increased pressure on mothers to enter paid employment without flexibility can have negative consequences. For instance, a statistical analysis of the impact of welfare reforms implemented in the United States in 1996 shows a small but significant negative effect on average levels of breastfeeding among low-income mothers (204).

To make GDP more relevant and useful to collective human decision-making, this paper has argued for urgent priority to be given to developing measures which include the care economy and account for depletion of human and environmental capital. It has used the example of breastfeeding and human milk to illustrate the deep links between human health and human capital, these crises of care and environmental depletion. It suggests that this mismeasurement of the economic system results in the misdirection of nations' leadership efforts. It concludes that these critical problems of crisis for global human well-being arise from the self-reinforcing, century long preoccupation with better measuring growth in the market - an artificial construct - rather than expanding a total economic system which can sustainably resource human life and well-being.

The invisibility of this household food production seriously distorts public policy priorities. This works to the disadvantage of women and children because it means fewer economic and financial resources are allocated to important economic outcomes such as protecting and supporting breastfeeding, through for example, financing adequate quality maternity care services and mother and child health programs, and to regulating and funding labor market measures such as unpaid and paid maternity leave and breastfeeding accommodations in the workplaces. It also means that public funds continue to underpin the profitability of the commercial baby food industry through programs distributing free formula, despite this displacing women's economically valuable production of human milk through breastfeeding which is worth much more to the economy.

As well as illustrating that GDP overstates the extent of economic growth in some emerging economies compared to others where policy and other variables better maintain households'

production levels of human milk and breastfeeding, it can be argued that because of the non-measurement of these goods and services in GDP, the dramatic shift in infant and young child food production activity from the household to the market sector during the past half century in both developed and developing countries has passed unobserved, and its negative externalities unrecorded. It can be expected that the invisibility of such a shift and the economic production value being lost has resulted in policy inaction and bias <sup>(191)</sup>, which adversely affects gender equity and well-being of mothers and children, as well as the quality of the human capital stock and future economic productivity <sup>(10, 145, 196)</sup>.

There are furthermore, important environmental issues that are archetypally represented in the exclusion of human milk from national accounts. Greenhouse gas emission, land clearing and biodiversity and water use are key elements of contemporary discussions on how globalized agricultural and food systems are degrading the environment, and undercounting the crucial contribution of ecological services to human health and well-being. In the case of infant feeding, recent studies have identified the large carbon footprint of infant formula, which is not measured with the core SNA, whilst replacement of breastfeeding in the global food system by milk formula is counted in GDP as an economic gain without any adjustment for the environmental costs.

#### **Acknowledgements**

This research is supported by funding of a Future Fellowship awarded by the Australian Research Council (FT140101260).

#### References

- 1. Stiglitz JE, Sen A, Fitoussi JP. The measurement of economic performance and social progress revisited; Reflections and overview. Paris: French Observatory of Economic Conditions Economics Research Center 2009 December
- 2. Bjørnholt M, McKay A, editors. Counting on Marilyn Waring. New advances in feminist economics: Demeter Press 2014.
- 3. Ingham LH. Environmental accounting and the Australian national accounts. In: Forum on Environmental Economics; 1993 6 May 1993; University of New South Wales; 1993.
- 4. Ingham LH. Natural resource and environmental accounting in the national accounts. Journal of Official Statistics 1991;7(4):499-513.
- 5. Aulin-Ahmavaara P. Moving human capital inside the production boundary. Review of Income and Wealth 2004;50(2):213-228.
- 6. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Experimental estimates of human capital for Australia. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics,; 2001.
- 7. Folbre N. Children as public goods. American Economic Review 1994;84(2):86-90.
- 8. Smith JP. Mothers' milk and markets. Australian Feminist Studies 2004;19(45, November):369.
- 9. Smith JP, Forrester R. Who pays for the health benefits of exclusive breastfeeding? An analysis of maternal time costs. Journal of Human Lactation 2013;29(4):547-555.
- 10. Qi L, Dong X-y. Unpaid Care Work's Interference with Paid Work and the Gender Earnings Gap in China. Feminist Economics 2016;22(2):143-167.
- 11. Abraham KG, Mackie CD. Beyond the market: Designing nonmarket accounts for the United States: Natl Academy Pr; 2005.
- 12. van de Ven P. New standards for compiling national accounts: what's the impact on GDP and other macroeconomic indicators? In: Statistics Brief. Paris: OECD; 2015.
- 13. The Economist. The prosperity puzzle. The Economist 2016.
- 14. Waring M. Counting for nothing. Wellington: Allen & Unwin, New Zealand; 1988.
- 15. Beneria L. Gender, development and globalisation. 2016.
- 16. Elson D. Progress of the world's women, 2000. New York: United Nations Development Program (UNDP); 2000.
- 17. Esquivel V. Sixteen Years after Beijing: What Are the New Policy Agendas for Time-Use Data Collection? Feminist Economics 2011;17(4):215-238.
- 18. Elson D. The three R's of unpaid work: Recognition, reduction and redistribution. In: Paper presented at the Expert Group Meeting on Unpaid work, Economic Development and Human Well-Being; 2008; New York: United Nations Development Program (UNDP), New York; 2008.
- 19. Folbre N. The Care Economy in Africa: Subsistence Production and Unpaid Care. Journal of African Economies 2014;23(suppl 1):i128-i156.
- 20. Power M. Social Provisioning as a Starting Point for Feminist Economics. Feminist Economics 2004;10(3):3-19.
- 21. Nussbaum MC. Creating capabilities: Harvard University Press; 2011.
- 22. Benería L, Berik G, Floro M. Gender, development and globalization: economics as if all people mattered: Routledge; 2016.
- 23. Sen A. Mortalitiy as an indicator of economic success and failure. The Economic Journal 1998;108(January):1-25.
- 24. The Economist. The war on baby girls Gendercide. 2010 4 March.
- 25. Beneria L, Permanyer I. The Measurement of Socio-economic Gender Inequality Revisited. Development and Change 2010;41(3):375-399.
- 26. Olshansky SJ, Passaro DJ, Hershow RC, Layden J, Carnes BA, Brody J, et al. A potential decline in life expectancy in the United States in the 21st century. New England Journal of Medicine 2005;352(11):1138-1145.
- 27. Baker P, Friel S. Food systems transformations, ultra-processed food markets and the nutrition transition in Asia. Global Health 2016;12(1):80.
- 28. Popkin BM, Horton S, Kim S, Mahal A, Shuigao J. Trends in diet, nutritional status, and diet-related noncommunicable diseases in China and India: the economic costs of the nutrition transition. Nutr Rev 2001;59(12):379-90.
- 29. Popkin BM, Adair LS, Ng SW. Global nutrition transition and the pandemic of obesity in developing countries. Nutr Rev 2012;70(1):3-21.
- 30. Langer A, Meleis A, Knaul FM, Atun R, Aran M, Arreola-Ornelas H, et al. Women and Health: the key for sustainable development. The Lancet 2015;386(9999):1165-1210.
- 31. Elson D. Social reproduction in the global crisis: rapid recovery or long-lasting depletion? In: The Global Crisis and Transformative Social Change: Springer; 2012. p. 63-80.
- 32. Folbre N. The Revolt of the Magic Pudding; How to reshape a labour market that simply doesn't care. Australian Financial Review 2002(5 April):4-5.

- 33. Fraser N. Capitalism's Crisis of Care. Dissent Magazine 2016.
- 34. Folbre N. Who pays for the kids. Gender and the structures of constraint. New York: Routledge; 1994.
- 35. Folbre N, Weisskopf MG. Did Father know best. In: Ben-Ner A, Putterman L, editors. Economics, values and organisation: Cambridge University Press; 1998.
- 36. Folbre N. Should Women Care Less? Intrinsic Motivation and Gender Inequality. British Journal of Industrial Relations 2012;50(4):597-619.
- 37. Folbre N. Measuring Care: Gender, Empowerment, and the Care Economy. Journal of Human Development 2006;7(2):183-199.
- 38. Balakrishnan R, Elson D. Economic policy and human rights: Holding Governments to Account: Zed Books; 2011.
- 39. Christian MS. Net Investment and Stocks of Human Capital in the United States, 1975-2013. 2016.
- 40. Liu G. Measuring the stock of human capital for international and intertemporal comparisons. In: Measuring Economic Sustainability and Progress: University of Chicago Press; 2014. p. 493-544.
- 41. Treadgold M. An Early Estimate of the Value of Australia's Stock of Human Capital. History of Economics Review 2000;32(1):46-57.
- 42. Liu G, Greaker M. Measuring the stock of human capital for Norway–A lifetime labour income approach. Statistics Norway Research 2009.
- 43. Wei H. Measuring the stock of human capital for Australia: A lifetime labour income approach. the Annual Conference of Economists, Perth, September 2001.
- 44. Wei H. Measuring Australia's human capital development: The role of post-school education and the impact of population ageing. Statistical Journal of the IAOS 2007;24(3, 4):183-191.
- 45. Folbre N. "Holding hands at midnight": The paradox of caring labor. Feminist Economics 1995;1(1):73-92.
- 46. Abraham KG, Mackie C, editors. Beyond the Market: Designing Nonmarket Accounts for the United States. Washington, D.C.: National Research Council; 2005.
- 47. European Commission (EC), (FAO) FaAO, (IMF) IMF, (OECD) OfEC-oaD, (UN) UN, World Bank. System of Environmental-Economic Accounting Central Framework. 2012
- 48. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD. Key environmental indicators. Paris: OECD; 2008
- 49. Floro. The Crises of Environment and Social Reproduction: Understanding their Linkages. Development Dialogue 2012;Fifty years Dag Hammarskjold Special Issue (60):175-98.
- 50. Hrdy SB. Mother Nature. A history of mothers, infants and natural selection. New York: Pantheon; 1999.
- 51. Robert T. Parental investment and sexual selection. Sexual Selection & the Descent of Man, Aldine de Gruyter, New York 1972:136-179.
- 52. Land H, Rose H. Compulsory altruism for some or an altruistic society for all. In defence of welfare 1985:74-96.
- 53. Volk AA, Atkinson JA. Infant and child death in the human environment of evolutionary adaptation. Evolution and Human Behavior 2013.
- 54. Dettwyler KA. Breastfeeding, Child Health and Child Spacing: Cross-Cultural Perspectives. Medical Anthropology Quarterly (New Series) 1988;2(3):303-306.
- 55. Sellen DW. Evolution of infant and young child feeding: implications for contemporary public health. Annu Rev Nutr 2007;27:123-48.
- 56. Smith JP, Ingham LH, Dunstone MD. The economic value of breastfeeding in Australia. Australian National University, Canberra: National Centre for Epidemiology and Population Health; 1998.
- 57. Butz WP. The changing role of breastfeeding in economic development: a theoretical exposition. Res Hum Cap Dev 1981;2:95-117.
- 58. Popkin BM. Economic determinants of breastfeeding behaviour: the case of rural households in Laguna, Philippines. In: Mosley WH, editor. Nutrition and human reproduction. New York: Plenum Press; 1978. p. 461-499.
- 59. Smuts P. The evolution of patriarchy. Human Nature 1995;6(1).
- 60. Braunstein E, Folbre N. To honor and obey: efficiency, inequality, and patriarchal property rights. Feminist Economics 2001;7(1):25-44.
- 61. Smith JP, Galtry J, Salmon L. Confronting the formula feeding epidemic in a new era of trade and investment liberalisation. Journal of Australian Political Economy 2014;73:132-171.
- 62. Galtry J. Strengthening the human rights framework to protect breastfeeding: a focus on CEDAW. International Breastfeeding Journal 2015;10(1):1-10.
- 63. Meier BM, Labbok M. From the Bottle to the Grave: Realizing a Human Right to Breastfeeding through Global Health Policy. Case W. Res. L. Rev. 2009;60:1073.
- 64. Kent G. Child feeding and human rights. International Breastfeeding Journal 2006;1(1):27.
- 65. World Health Organization/UNICEF (WHO/UNICEF). Global strategy for infant and young child feeding. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (WHO) UNICEF; 2003.
- 66. Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJD, França GVA, Horton S, Kraseve J, et al. Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. The Lancet 2016;387 January 30, 2016(10017):475–90.
- 67. Walker SP, Wachs TD, Grantham-McGregor S, Black MM, Nelson CA, Huffman SL, et al. Inequality in early childhood: risk and protective factors for early child development. The Lancet 2011;378(9799):1325-1338.

- 68. Jackson. Local breast milk for sale in the US Phnom Penh Post 2015 24 December.
- 69. Chase. Milk mongers sell mix of fear and doubt. 2016
- 70. Clark. Utah Company Finds Alternative to Formula with Donated Breastmilk purchased from Cambodia. In; 2016.
- 71. Wood B. Got breast milk? If not, a Utah County company has you covered with imported Cambodian milk. Salt Lake Tribune 2015 23 December 2015.
- 72. Wickes IG. A history of infant feeding. Arch Dis Child 1953;28:495.
- 73. Miracle DJ, Szucs KA, Torke AM, Helft PR. Contemporary ethical issues in human milk-banking in the United States. Pediatrics 2011;128(6):1186-91.
- 74. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian System of National Accounts In: Cat no 5204.0. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2011.
- 75. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Unpaid work and the Australian economy 1997. In: Cat no. 5240. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2000.
- 76. Ironmonger D, Soupourmas F. Estimating household production outputs with time use episode data. electronic International Journal of Time Use Research 2009;6(2):240-268.
- 77. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Measuring unpaid household work: issues and experimental estimates. In: Cat no. 5236.0. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 1990.
- 78. EC. Household Production and Consumption Proposal for a Methodology of Household Satellite Accounts. 2003.
- 79. Christian MS. Net Investment and Stocks of Human Capital in the United States, 1975-2013: Bureau of Economic Analysis; 2016.
- 80. Cunha F, Heckman JJ. Formulating, Identifying and Estimating the Technology of Cognitive and Noncognitive Skill Formation. J. Human Resources 2008;43(4):738-782.
- 81. Cunha F, Heckman JJ, Lochner L, Masterov DV. Interpreting the Evidence on Life Cycle Skill Formation. 2005.
- 82. Li H, Liu Q, Li B, Fraumeni B, Zhang X. Human capital estimates in China: New panel data 1985–2010. China Economic Review 2014;30:397-418.
- 83. Nordhaus W, Tobin J. Is growth obsolete. In: Economic growth, fiftieth anniversary colloquiem V; 1972; New York: National Bureau of Economic Research; 1972.
- 84. Peskin HM, Peskin J. The valuation of non-market activities in income accounting. Review of Income and Wealth 1978; Ser 24(March):71-91.
- 85. Rohde JE. Mothers' milk and the Indonesian economy. Journal of Tropical Pediatrics 1982;28(4):166-174.
- 86. Rollins NC, Bhandari N, Hajeebhoy N, Horton S, Lutter CK, Martines JC, et al. Why invest, and what it will take to improve breastfeeding practices? Lancet 2016;387(10017):491-504.
- 87. Rohde JE. Mother milk and the Indonesian economy: a major national resource. Indian J Pediatr 1981;48(391):125-32.
- 88. Aslaksen I, Koren C. Unpaid household work and the distribution of extended income: The Norwegian experience. Feminist Economics 1996;2(3):65-80.
- 89. Roberts TJ, Carnahan E, Gakidou E. Can breastfeeding promote child health equity? A comprehensive analysis of breastfeeding patterns across the developing world and what we can learn from them. BMC Med 2013;11:254.
- 90. Rippeyoung PLF, Noonan MC. Is breastfeeding truly cost free? Income consequences of breastfeeding for women. American Sociological Review 2012;77(2):244-267.
- 91. Noonan MC, Rippeyoung PL. The economic costs of breastfeeding for women. Breastfeed Med 2011;6:325-7.
- 92. Fraser N. Social Justice in the Age of Identity Politics: Redistribution, Recognition, and Participation. In; 1996.
- 93. ILO. Gender equality at the heart of decent work. 2009.
- 94. ILO. Women and Men in the Informal Economy: A Statistical Picture. 2013.
- 95. Hansen K. The power of nutrition and the power of breastfeeding. Breastfeeding Medicine 2015;10(8):385-388.
- 96. Hansen K. Breastfeeding: a smart investment in people and in economies. The Lancet 2016;Vol 387 January 30, 2016:416.
- 97. Wagman B, Folbre N. Household Services and Economic Growth in the United States, 1870-1930. Feminist Economics 1996;2(1):43-66.
- 98. Smith JP. The value of household work in Australian national product. In: (Published in Treasury Seminar Series, June 1987): Department of Economic History, Australian National University; 1982.
- 99. Kwon TH. Economic Valuation of Unpaid Work in Korea. Asian Women 2005;21:137-164.
- 100. Yoon J. Counting care work in social policy: Valuing unpaid child-and eldercare in Korea. Feminist Economics 2014;20(2):65-89.
- 101. England P. Emerging theories of care work. Annual review of sociology 2005:381-399.
- 102. Appadurai A. The social life of things: Commodities in cultural perspective: Cambridge University Press; 1988.
- 103. Sandel MJ. What money can't buy: the moral limits of markets. Tanner Lectures on Human Values 2000:21:87-122.
- 104. Roth AE. Repugnance as a Constraint on Markets. The Journal of Economic Perspectives 2007;21(3):37-58.

- 105. Swanson KW. Banking on the Body: the Market in Blood, Milk, and Sperm in Modern America. Cambridge, Massachusetts and London, England: Harvard University Press; 2014.
- 106. Sparks J. Wet nurses latest way for rich Chinese to flash cash. Sydney Morning Herald 2006 6 December.
- 107. Fowler GA, Ye J. Got Milk? Chinese Crisis Creates A Market for Human Alternatives. In: Wall Street Journal 2008.
- 108. Ferran L. Conceptual framework and methodogogical guidelines for the household satellite account to measure unpaid work in health. In: Pan American Health Organisation (PAHO), editor. The invisible economy and gender inequalities, the importance of measuring and valuing unpaid work. Washington (DC) PAHO; 2010. p. 77-88.
- 109. Kunz C, Rodriguez-Palmero M, Koletzko B, Jensen R. Nutritional and biochemical properties of human milk, Part I: General aspects, proteins, and carbohydrates. Clin Perinatol 1999;26(2):307-33.
- 110. Rodriguez-Palmero M, Koletzko B, Kunz C, Jensen R. Nutritional and biochemical properties of human milk: II. Lipids, micronutrients, and bioactive factors. Clinics in perinatology 1999;26(2):335-359.
- 111. Chowdhury R, Sinha B, Sankar MJ, Taneja S, Bhandari N, Rollins N, et al. Breastfeeding and maternal health outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015;104(467):96-113.
- 112. Labbok M. Breastfeeding for women: hormones, heritage and health. Network of Australian Lactation Colleges Newsletter 1997;1(5, October).
- 113. Labbok MH, Smith PH, Taylor EC. Breastfeeding and feminism: a focus on reproductive health, rights and justice. International Breastfeeding Journal 2008;3:8.
- 114. Bartick MC, Schwarz EB, Green BD, Jegier BJ, Reinhold AG, Colaizy TT, et al. Suboptimal breastfeeding in the United States: Maternal and pediatric health outcomes and costs. Matern Child Nutr 2016.
- 115. Bartick M, Stuebe AM, Schwarz EB, Luongo C, Reinhold AG, Foster EM. Cost analysis of maternal disease associated with suboptimal breastfeeding. Obstetrics & Gynecology 2013;122(1):111-9.
- 116. Renfrew M, Pokhrel S, Quigley M, McCormick F, Fox-Rushby J, Dodds R, et al. Preventing disease and saving resources: the potential contribution of increasing breastfeeding rates in the UK. Report commissioned by Unicef, UK, Oct 2012 2012.
- 117. Pokhrel S, Quigley MA, Fox-Rushby J, McCormick F, Williams A, Trueman P, et al. Potential economic impacts from improving breastfeeding rates in the UK. Archives of Disease in Childhood 2014.
- 118. Walters D, Horton S, Siregar AY, Pitriyan P, Hajeebhoy N, Mathisen R, et al. The cost of not breastfeeding in Southeast Asia. Health Policy Plan 2016.
- 119. Li R, Fein SB, Grummer-Strawn LM. Do infants fed from bottles lack self-regulation of milk intake compared with directly breastfed infants? Pediatrics 2010;125(6):e1386-93.
- 120. Thorley V. The dilemma of breastmilk feeding. Breastfeed Rev 2011;19(1):5-7.
- 121. Boone KM, Geraghty SR, Keim SA. Feeding at the Breast and Expressed Milk Feeding: Associations with Otitis Media and Diarrhea in Infants. J Pediatr 2016.
- 122. Li R, Magadia J, Fein SB, Grummer-Strawn LM. Risk of bottle-feeding for rapid weight gain during the first year of life. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2012;166(5):431-6.
- 123. Bartok CJ. Babies fed breastmilk by breast versus by bottle: a pilot study evaluating early growth patterns. Breastfeed Med 2011;6(3):117-24.
- 124. Ardeshir. <Ardeshir\_2014\_Breast-fed and bottle-fed infant rhesus macaques develop distinct gut microbiotas and immune systems.pdf>. 2014.
- 125. Felice JP, Rasmussen KM. Breasts, Pumps and Bottles, and Unanswered Questions. Breastfeed Med 2015;10(9):412-5.
- 126. Labbok MH, Hendershot GE. Does breastfeeding protect against malocclusion? American Journal of Preventative Medicine 1987;3:4.
- 127. Kramer MS, Aboud F, Mironova E, Vanilovich I, Platt RW, Matush L, et al. Breastfeeding and child cognitive development: new evidence from a large randomized trial. Arch Gen Psychiatry 2008;65(5):578-84.
- 128. Horta BL, Mola CL, Victora CG. Breastfeeding and intelligence: systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatrica 2015.
- 129. Victora CG, Horta BL, de Mola CL, Quevedo L, Pinheiro RT, Gigante DP, et al. Association between breastfeeding and intelligence, educational attainment, and income at 30 years of age: a prospective birth cohort study from Brazil.
- 130. The Economist. Nutrition, IQ and income; more evidence that breast is best. The Economist 2015.
- 131. Oddy WH, Kendall GE, Li J, Jacoby P, Robinson M, de Klerk NH, et al. The long-term effects of breastfeeding on child and adolescent mental health: a pregnancy cohort study followed for 14 years. The Journal of pediatrics 2010;156(4):568-574.
- 132. Kramer MS, Aboud F, Mironova E, Vanilovich I, Platt RW, Matush L, et al. Breastfeeding and child cognitive development: new evidence from a large randomized trial. Archives of General Psychiatry 2008;65(5):578-84.
- 133. Kinsley CH, Lambert KG. Scientific American 2006;294(null):72.
- 134. Strathearn L, Mamun AA, Najman JM, O'Callaghan MJ. Does breastfeeding protect against substantiated child abuse and neglect? A 15-year cohort study. Pediatrics 2009;123(2):483-93.
- 135. Rippeyoung PL. Feeding the State: Breastfeeding and Women's Well-Being in Context. Journal of the Motherhood Initiative for Research and Community Involvement 2009;11(1).

- 136. Leslie J. Women's time: a factor in the use of child survival technologies? Health Policy and Planning 1989;4(1):1-16.
- 137. Ironmonger D. Bringing up Betty and Bobby; The inputs and outputs of childcare time. Family time: the social organization of care 2004;2:93.
- 138. Smith JP, Craig L. The time use of new mothers what does it tell us about time use methodologies? In: ACERH Research Report No. 4. Canberra; 2009.
- 139. Folbre N, Yoon J, Finnoff K, Fuligni AS. By What Measure? Family Time Devoted to Children in the United States. Demography 2005;42(2):373-390.
- 140. Esping-Andersen G. Incomplete revolution: Adapting welfare states to women's new roles: Polity; 2009.
- 141. Braunstein E, Van Staveren I, Tavani D. Embedding care and unpaid work in macroeconomic modeling: a structuralist approach. Feminist economics 2011;17(4):5-31.
- 142. Smith JP, Ellwood M. Where does a mothers' day go? Preliminary estimates from the Australian Time Use Survey of New Mothers. In: ACERH Research Paper No. 1. Canberra 2008.
- 143. Grimshaw D, Rubery J. The motherhood pay gap: A review of the issues, theory and international evidence: ILO 2015.
- 144. Cook S, Dong X-Y. Harsh Choices: Chinese Women's Paid Work and Unpaid Care Responsibilities under Economic Reform. Development and Change 2011;42:947-66.
- 145. Dong X-y, An X. Gender Patterns and Value of Unpaid Care Work: Findings From China's First Large-Scale Time Use Survey. Review of Income and Wealth 2015;61(3):540-560.
- 146. Xia C. Beijing to invest \$1.72 mln in baby formula research. In: China News 2014.
- 147. Qi L. China unveils plan to reshape milk-powder industry. In: Wall Street Journal 2014.
- 148. Hou A. Rate of exclusive breastfeeding declining in China. In: Federation ACWs, editor.; 2014.
- 149. Liu A, Dai Y, Xie X, Chen L. Implementation of international code of marketing breast-milk substitutes in China. Breastfeed Med 2014;9(9):467-72.
- 150. Xu Z, Yining P, Yang Y. Bribery claims feed milk scandal. In: China Daily 2013.
- 151. Waldmeir P. Bribery allegations emerge over imported infant formula in China. In: Financial Times; 2013.
- 152. Harney A. Special report: How Big Formula bought China. In: Reuters Business and Financial News; 2013.
- 153. Correy S. Infant formula-the White Gold of China. In: Australian Broadcasting Commission, Radio National, Rear Vision; 2013.
- 154. AAP. Baby formula company 'bribed' China hospital staff. In: SBS News. China; 2013.
- 155. Wu G. Gov't seeks to reverse decline in breastfeeding. In: CCTV.com; 2014.
- 156. Smith JP, Ingham LH. Mothers' milk and measures of economic output. Feminist Economics 2005;11(1):41-62.
- 157. Berg A. The Nutrition Factor. Washington: The Brookings Institution; 1973.
- 158. Rohde JE. Human milk in the second year. Paediatrica Indonesiana 1974;14(Nov-Dec):198-207.
- 159. Gupta A, Khanna K. Economic value of breastfeeding in India. Natl Med J India 1999;12(3):123-7.
- 160. Aguayo VM, Ross J. The monetary value of human milk in Francophone west Africa: a PROFILES analysis for nutrition policy communication. Food Nutr Bull 2002;23(2):153-61.
- 161. Aguayo VM, Ross J, Saunero R, Torrez A, Johnston R. [Monetary value of breast milk in Bolivia]. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2001;10(4):249-56.
- 162. Oshaug A, Botten G. Human milk in food supply statistics. Food Policy 1994;19(5):479-482.
- 163. Hatloy A, Oshaug A. Human milk: an invisible food resource. J Hum Lact 1997;13(4):299-305.
- 164. Ross J, Aguayo V, Heymann HS. A Guide for Calculating the Benefits of Breastfeeding (BOB). In: The Academy for Educational Development & UNICEF. Washington USA; 2006.
- 165. Smith JP, Ingham LH. Breastfeeding and the measurement of economic progress. Journal of Australian Political Economy 2001(47):(51)-72.
- 166. Smith JP. Including household production in the System of National Accounts (SNA)–Exploring the implications of breastfeeding and human milk provision. In: International Association for Research on Income and Wealth General Conference; 2012; 2012, p. 5-11.
- 167. Fein SB, Mandal B, Roe BE. Success of Strategies for Combining Employment and Breastfeeding. Pediatrics 2008;122(Supplement\_2):S56-62.
- 168. Smith JP. 'Lost milk?' why is breastfeeding undervalued by policymakers? (poster). In: Born to Breastfeed: A Global Public Health Imperative: 2013 Conference & Annual Meeting, International Lactation Consultant Association. Melbourne; 2013.
- 169. Smith JP. Human milk supply in Australia. Food Policy 1999;24(1):71-91.
- 170. Fildes V. Wet nursing, A history from antiquity to the present. Oxford: Basil Blackwell; 1988.
- 171. Smith JP. "Lost milk?": counting the economic value of breast milk in gross domestic product. Journal of Human Lactation 2013;29(4):537-546.
- 172. Norwegian Health Directorate. Norway utviklingen i norsk kosthold 2011. Oslo: Norwegian Health Directorate; 2011 November.
- 173. Smith JP. Including household production in the System of National Accounts (SNA) exploring the implications of breastfeeding and human milk provision In: International Association for Research on Income and Wealth General Conference August 5-11, 2012 2012; Boston, U.S.A.; 2012.

- 174. Smith J, Dadhich J, Gupta A. Poster presentation 'Baby food sales in India and China: A comparison with the economic value of breast milk'. In. 'Liquid Gold' Conference, Melbourne; 2014.
- 175. Abramsky J. Changes to National Accounts: Inclusion of Illegal Drugs and Prostitution in the UK National Accounts. 2014.
- 176. The Economist. National accounts Sex, drugs and GDP. 2014
- 177. Shen K. Pediatric development and challenges in China. In; 2016.
- Baker P, Smith J, Salmon L, Friel S, Kent G, Iellamo A, et al. Global trends and patterns of commercial milk-based formula sales: is an unprecedented infant and young child feeding transition underway? Public Health Nutrition 2016:1-11.
- 179. Dadhich J, Smith J, Iellemo A, Suleiman A. Report on Carbon Footprints Due to Milk Formula: A study from select countries of Asia-Pacific region. New Delhi: BPNI/IBFAN Asia; 2015.
- 180. Smith JP, Thompson JF, Ellwood DA. Hospital system costs of artificial infant feeding: estimates for the Australian Capital Territory. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health 2002;26(6):543-551.
- 181. Sobel HL, Iellamo AD, Raya RR, Padilla AA, Ana Iii FSS, Nyunt-U S. The Economic Burden of Infant Formula on Families with Young Children in the Philippines. Journal of Human Lactation 2012;28(2):174-180.
- Ross J, Chunming C, ZAZhenying F, Wu H, Gang F, Yuying W, et al. Calculating the effects of malnutrition on econmic productivity health and survival in China using PROFILES. In. New York; 2001.
- 183. Sacker A, Quigley MA, Kelly YJ. Breastfeeding and developmental delay: findings from the millennium cohort study. Pediatrics 2006;118(3):e682-9.
- 184. Oddy WH, Li J, Whitehouse AJO, Zubrick SR, Malacova E. Breastfeeding Duration and Academic Achievement at 10 Years. Pediatrics 2011;127(1):e137-e145.
- 185. Lucas A, Morley R, Cole TJ, Gore SM. A randomised multicentre study of human milk versus formula and later development in preterm infants. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 1994;70(2):F141-6.
- 186. Hafstead M, Lutter R. What Is the Economic Value of Improved Labor Market Outcomes from Infant Nutrition? 2016.
- 187. Horta BL, Loret de Mola C, Victora CG. Long-term consequences of breastfeeding on cholesterol, obesity, systolic blood pressure and type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acta Paediatr 2015;104(467):30-7.
- 188. Rollins NC, Bhandari N, Hajeebhoy N, Horton S, Lutter CK, Martines JC, et al. Why invest and what it will take to improve breastfeeding practices. The Lancet 2016; Vol 387 January 30, 2016; 491–504.
- 189. Linnecar A, Gupta A, Dadhich J, Bidla N. Formula for Disaster. IBFAN Asia/BPNI; 2014. Available at: http://ibfan.org/docs/FormulaForDisaster.pdf Accessed on November 10, 2015. 2014.
- 190. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO). Greenhouse Gas Emissions from the Dairy Sector A Life Cycle Assessment. In; 2010.
- 191. Himmelweit S. Making Visible the Hidden Economy: The Case for Gender-Impact Analysis of Economic Policy. Feminist Economics 2002;8(1):49-70.
- 192. Reid MG. Economics of household production. New York: Wiley; 1934.
- 193. Boserup E. Women's Role in Economic Development The Indian Journal of Labour Economics 1970;40(1).
- 194. Benería L. Accounting for women's work: The progress of two decades. World development 1992;20(11):1547-1560.
- 195. Fraumeni BM. Household production accounts for Canada, Mexico, and the United States: Methodological issues, results and recommendations. In: Pan American Health Organisation (PAHO), editor. The invisible economy and gender inequalities. Washington (DC) PAHO; 2010. p. 19-30.
- 196. Smith JP. Making mothers' milk count. In: Bjørnholt M, McKay A, editors. Counting on Marilyn Waring: New Advances of Feminist Economics, Bradford, Ontario: Demeter Press; 2014. p. 267-286.
- 197. Collas-Monsod S. Removing the Cloak of Invisibility. In: Harvesting Feminist Knowledge for Public Policy: Rebuilding Progress; 2011. p. 93.
- 198. Commission of the European Communities IMF, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, United Nations and World Bank. System of national accounts. New York; 1993.
- 199. Drago R. The WIC program: An economic analysis of breastfeeding and infant formula. Breastfeeding Medicine 2010;6(5):49-66.
- 200. Abramsky J, Drew S. Changes to National Accounts: inclusion of illegal drugs and prostitution in the UK national accounts. London: Office of National Statistics. Available at <a href="http://www.procon.org/sourcefiles/united-kingdom-office-for-national-statistics-aug-2014">http://www.procon.org/sourcefiles/united-kingdom-office-for-national-statistics-aug-2014</a>. pdf (accessed 21 June 2015) 2014.
- 201. Folbre N. Valuing Non-market Work. 2015.
- 202. Saunders C, Dalziel P. Twenty-Five Years of Counting for Nothing: Waring's Critique of National Accounts. Feminist Economics 2016:1-19.
- 203. Norwegian Health Directorate. Norway utviklingen i norsk kosthold 2015. Oslo: Norwegian Health Directorate; 2015 November.
- 204. Haider SJ, Jacknowitz A, Schoeni RF. Welfare Work Requirements and Child Well-Being: Evidence from the Effects on Breast-Feeding. Demography 2003;40(3):479-97.

## **FIGURES**

Figure 1: Breastfeeding, human milk and the SNA Framework

Domains of impact	Effects of infant and young child feeding	Relevant SNA impact	SNA framework	
Social and Gender equity	Unpaid time inputs to household production and	Childcare and preventative healthcare	Satellite accounts of non-market	
Food system	consumption of IYC nutrition and care including health care		household production	
·	IYC feeding and nutrition – undernutrition and overnutrition	IYC food production and consumption	Core production boundary/GDP	
Health cost externalities	Preventative health care and avoided attributable health costs of premature breastfeeding cessation	Health care costs and defensive health expenditures	Core production boundary/GDP	
Environmental cost externalities	Environmental asset degradation of milk formula production eg GHG emissions, pollution, packaging and waste generation	Defensive environmental expenditures	Core production boundary/GDP	
Human capital	Avoided acute infectious illness (respiratory, gastrointestinal); maternal survival and fertility regulation; avoided later life chronic disease child and mother (obesity, diabetes, reproductive cancers eg breast cancer), cognitive	Increased labour productivity and human capital stock via lower chronic disease risk, child cognitive development and educational attainment	Human capital accounts – income and cost methods	
Environmental assets	development  Avoided land clearing, biodiversity, water use and other avoided impacts of breastmilk substitutes	Environmental asset depletion	Environmental accounts – depletion of land, water, air, energy resources due to milk formula production and use	

## TABLES[JPS1]

Table 1: Market values for human milk

Market	Price (\$US per oz.)	Location	Comment/source
Human milk banks			
HMBANA	\$3-\$4.5 <sup>(1)</sup>	USA	Currently there are 12 HMBANA member milk banks providing donor human milk in the United States and Canada. HMBANA milk banks charge no fee for the actual milk, but charge a processing fee to offset the milk bank's overhead costs. This fee ranges from US\$3 to US\$4.50 per ounce, plus shipping costs. Each milk bank has the authority to determine the processing fee for its facility, which is the reason for the wide variation in price.
Norwegian milk banks	\$3.42 (US\$100 per litre) <sup>(2)</sup>	Norway	13 milk banks were operating in Norway in 2009, all located in hospitals with level 111 NICUs. All preterm infants are offered donor milk if mothers' milk is unavailable or insufficient, and all infants who need milk from the milk bank are offered it. Donors are given a free hospital grade breast pump, and US\$20 per litre to cover electricity and travel expenses, and donate for 6 months. At the main Oslo hospital where 2000 of the country's 60,000 annual births occur, the milk bank collects around 1000-1100 litres of human milk p.a. There is a charge of US\$100 for milk transferred to other hospitals.
Standardised human milk formulations	US\$35 (US\$1183 per litre) <sup>(3)</sup>		Prolacta products are for in hospital use only and the company does not supply or charge directly to parents for Prolacta products. The cost is absorbed by the hospital or covered by medical insurance, where the infant is prescribed human milk products. (4) The company's website explains its 'co-promotion' arrangement with a major formula manufacturer, Abbott Ross, which is involved in promoting and distributing these human milk products to hospitals.
Human milk fortifier	US\$6.25/mL (US\$6250 per litre) <sup>(3)</sup>	USA	
Internet milk exchange	,		
Only the Breast	US\$1-\$3 <sup>(5)</sup> UK\$2-8 <sup>(5)</sup>	Online	Milk can be bought and sold, as well as shared (donated). Exchange is organised into various categories, including by age of the infant, fresh (rather than shipped frozen), milk bank certified mother, milk bank screened mother, bulk sales, local sales, fat babies, special diet (vegan etc). Site offers donor

blood testing at US\$219.45.

Also has trading from Canada, United Kingdom and elsewhere

t-nurse employment			
Wet-nursing	Daily rate between US\$50 and US\$200 (2012 prices). <sup>(5)</sup> US\$1,000/week (2007 prices) <sup>(6)</sup>	USA	Offered at between US\$50 and US\$200 per day. Also has trading from Canada, United Kingdom and elsewhere. Equivalent to US\$71-286 per litre at 700 ml daily intake.
Wet-nursing	US\$2585/month <sup>(7)</sup>	China	Chinese wet nurses earned up to 18,000 Yuan/month in 2008. Exchange to USD is based on 2008 exchange rates. Equivalent to US\$121 per litre at 700 ml daily intake

## **Sources**

- 1. Wikipedia. Human milk banking in North America. In; 2013.
- 2. Grøvslien AH, Grønn M. Donor milk banking and breastfeeding in Norway. Journal of Human Lactation 2009;25(2):206-210.
- 3. Ganapathy V, Hay JW, Kim JH. Costs of Necrotizing Enterocolitis and Cost-Effectiveness of Exclusively Human Milk-Based Products in Feeding Extremely Premature Infants. Breastfeed Med 2011;6.
- 4. Prolacta. Prolacta Bioscience: Advancing the science of human milk. In; 2013.
- 5. Only The Breast. Only The Breast: a community for moms to buy, sell & donate natural breastmilk. In; 2013.
- 6. Lee-St.John J. Outsourcing breastmilk. In: Time magazine; 2007.
- Fowler GA, Ye J. Got Milk? Chinese Crisis Creates A Market for Human Alternatives. In: Wall Street Journal 2008.

Table 2: Annual production of human milk – selected countries and aggregates, 2006-2010

Country	Actual human milk production volume (million liters) <sup>a)</sup>	Market value of human milk production, US\$ million b)	Biologically feasible potential volume of production (million liters) b)c)	'Lost' production US\$ million <sup>b)</sup>
Norway	11	907	18	598
Australia	41	3,466	89	4,134
United Kingdom	47	3,980	223	15,009
Philippines	467	39,701	691	19,096
United States	525	44,649	1,269	63,238
China 2010	3,574	303,961	4,862	109,577
World 2010	23,315	1,982,942	39,744	1,397,251

Source: Smith (2012)

a) Production volume calculated as sum of total infants breastfeeding each month from age 0 to 24 months, times monthly milk intake for each age

b) 2012 prices, valued at US\$85.05 per litre (US\$3 per oz.), assuming 1 ml is equivalent to 1 gram.

c) as in a), assuming optimal breastfeeding prevalence of 95% from 0-24 months. WHO estimates that fewer than 5% of mothers or infants cannot breastfeed. The medical contraindications for human milk feeding of infants as advised by the US Center for Disease Control are rare. See <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/disease/">https://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/disease/</a>, accessed 11-4-2017.

Table 3: Annual production of human milk for infants, 0-24 months, India and China, 2005-2012

Country	Actual human milk production volume (million liters) <sup>a)</sup>	Market value of human milk production, US\$ million b)	Biologically feasible potential volume of production (million liters) <sup>b)c)</sup>	'Lost' production US\$ million <sup>b)</sup>
India	7,003	741,123	1,076,155	335,033
China	2,344	248,030	774,509	526,479

a) Production volume calculated as sum of total infants breastfeeding each month from age 0 to 24 months, times monthly milk intake for each age
 b) 2012 prices, valued at US\$100 per litre (US\$3.50 per oz.), assuming 1 ml is equivalent to 1 gram.
 c) as in a), assuming optimal breastfeeding prevalence of 95% from 0-24 months

Table 4: Infant formula and baby food market — estimated size

Country	Formula (baby food) market, \$US
Norway	n.a
Australia	132 million (formula only) in 1992 (8)
United Kingdom	n.a.
Philippines	260 million (formula only) in 2003 <sup>(9)</sup> 420 million in 2006 ( <sup>(10)</sup>
United States	1.5 billion (formula only) in 2010 (11)
India	224 million in 2012 <sup>(12)</sup>
China	3.3 in 2007 <sup>(13)</sup>
	12.3 billion in 2012 (12) (formula only)
	17.8 billion (14) (formula only)
The World	9 billion in 2009 (15) (formula only)
THE WOLL	31 billion in 2010 <sup>(16)</sup>
	44.8 billion in 2014 <sup>(14)</sup> (formula only)

## **Sources**

- 8. Smith JP, Ingham LH, Dunstone MD. The economic value of breastfeeding in Australia. Australian National University, Canberra: National Centre for Epidemiology and Population Health; 1998.
- 9. Sobel HL, Iellamo AD, Raya RR, Padilla AA, Ana Iii FSS, Nyunt-U S. The Economic Burden of Infant Formula on Families with Young Children in the Philippines. Journal of Human Lactation;28(2):174-180.
- 10. Raya RR. The Philippine breastfeeding struggle continues. The Lancet 2008;371(9615):794-795.
- 11. Datamonitor. Baby Food in the United States. 2011.
- 12. Euromonitor International. Euromonitor Passport Market Information Database. London; 2014.
- 13. AM Mindpower Solutions. China Baby Food and Infant Formula Market Research Report Outlook to 2016. In; 2012.
- 14. Rollins NC, Bhandari N, Hajeebhoy N, Horton S, Lutter CK, Martines JC, et al. Why invest, and what it will take to improve breastfeeding practices? Lancet 2016;387(10017):491-504.
- 15. Qiu L, Binns CW, Zhao Y, Lee AH, Xie X. The Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition. Journal of Health Population and Nutrition;28(2):189-198.
- 16. Brady JP. Marketing breast milk substitutes: problems and perils throughout the world. Archives of Disease in Childhood;97(6):529-532.